ED 463 809	JC 020 325
AUTHOR TITLE	Urbanski, Rebecca Ann Factors Influencing Student College Choice at a Northeastern Minnesota Tribal College.
PUB DATE NOTE PUB TYPE EDRS PRICE DESCRIPTORS	2000-11-00 186p.; Ed.D.thesis, University of Minnesota. Dissertations/Theses - Doctoral Dissertations (041) MF01/PC08 Plus Postage. American Indians; *College Choice; Community Colleges; *Enrollment Influences; Institutional Characteristics; Marketing; School Location; *Student Attitudes; Student Costs; *Student Recruitment; Tribal Sovereignty; *Tribally Controlled Education; Two Year College Students; Two Year Colleges

ABSTRACT

This dissertation addresses the factors influencing student college choice and their relationship to marketing processes in a northeastern Minnesota tribal college. The project involved a three-stage process of college choice--predisposition, search, and choice--and the related factors within each stage. From a review of the literature, a number of key factors emerged regarding each stage of the three-step process. A survey instrument was developed and piloted using these factors. In January 2000, the survey was administered to students attending Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College (Minnesota). Forty-two percent of the on-campus student population participated in this study. Survey data were analyzed using a variety of descriptive and inferential statistics. Findings showed that students were influenced by a number of factors. In the predisposition stage, students agreed that they had always known that they would attend college and that they possessed the academic capability of attending college. In the search and choice stages, students responded consistently that the factors of campus location, academic programs, class size, cost,

hospitality/friendliness, and campus size were influential in making their college selections. Though this study is specific to a tribal institution, the author believes the research will translate well to the general field of student recruitment and will provide a system for analyzing customer trends and activities to ensure success. (Contains 84 references and 7 appendices, including the research instrument.) (NB)



Factors Influencing Student College Choice at a

Northeastern Minnesota Tribal College

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA BY

PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

P. Urbanski

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

1

CO 203 25

1-1

Rebecca Ann Urbanski

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

Dr. Thomas D. Peacock, Advisor

November 2000

2

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.

 Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

ED 463 809

UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA

This is to certify that I have examined this copy of a doctoral thesis by

Rebecca Ann Urbanski

and have found that it is complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the final examining committee have been made.

10ma D. Kench

Dr. Thomas D. Peacock, Advisor

November 27, 2000

Date

GRADUATE SCHOOL

© Rebecca Ann Urbanski 2000



Acknowledgements

The completion of this doctoral program has been a personal goal of mine. I would like to thank the following individuals for their help and support during its duration.

- My advisor, Dr. Tom Thomas Peacock, and our program director, Dr. William Ammentorp, who helped me through their deep knowledge and understanding of educational leadership.
- My review committee members, Dr. Terrie Shannon and Dr. Gary Alkire, for their thoughtful review and suggestions for the improvement of my work.
- My colleagues at the Benedictine Health System and at Russell & Herder Advertising and Public Relations who, in good humor, asked about my progress on a regular basis and who cheered me on when times were difficult.
- My fellow Cohort IV Duluth classmates and my many friends who provided support, encouragement, and celebration.

i



- My sisters, Mary Urbanski and Sue Cyriacks and my brother and sister-in-law, Tom and Patti Urbanski. I especially thank my brother, Tom, for his help not only through his work at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College, but also for his expert editing advice.
- My parents, Larry and Joan Urbanski, who very early on instilled a love of learning in our family. I also honor their many dedicated years as teachers. They guided countless young lives into the future. My dad has often spoken of his desire to earn a doctorate degree. I hope he feels this sense of accomplishment through me.
- Finally, I want to thank my husband, Scott Junkert, who has been an endless source of encouragement and support throughout the past three years. His pride my work has given me great happiness.





ABSTRACT

This thesis addresses the factors influencing student college choice and their relationship to marketing processes in a northeastern Minnesota tribal college. Each year millions of students choose to attend higher education institutions. Often unknown are the reasons why they choose the schools that they do. By better understanding customer behavior and assessing marketing outcomes, colleges can improve their systematic marketing practices thus creating greater efficiency and effectiveness.

This project involves a three-stage process of college choice (predisposition, search and choice) and the related factors within each stage. From a review of literature, a number of key factors emerged regarding each stage of the three-step process. A survey instrument was developed and piloted using these factors. In January 2000, the survey was administered to students attending Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College located in Cloquet, MN. Forty-two percent of the on-campus student population participated in this study. Survey data was analyzed using a variety of descriptive and inferential statistics.

A summary of the findings showed that students in the study were influenced by a number of factors. In the predisposition stage, students agreed that they had always known that they would attend college and that they possessed the academic capability of attending college. In the search and choice stages, students responded consistently that the factors of campus location, academic programs, class size, cost, hospitality/friendliness and campus size were influential in making their college selections.

It is hoped that the results of this research will lead to improvement in the area of student recruitment. In addition, this study will add to the body of existing

İİİ



literature on this topic. While it is specific to a tribal institution and will assist other tribal colleges in the U.S., the research will translate well to the general field of student recruitment. It will provide a system for analyzing customer trends and activities to ensure institutional growth and success.



iv

Acknowledgements	
Abstract	
Table of Contents	
List of Tables	ix
Chapter One- Introduction	
Introduction	1
Background of the Problem	
Location	
Cost	
Image and Reputation	
Characteristics	
Quality	
Interpersonal Communication	
Direct Marketing	
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	
Research Questions	8
Research Variables and Limitations	
Assumptions	10
Significance of this Project	10
Definition of Terms	
Summary and Conclusion	12
Chapter Two – Review of Literature	
Introduction	14
Historical Background	
Understanding Why College Choice Theory is Important	
The Three-Stage Process of College Choice	
Stage One – Predisposition	
Factors Influencing Predisposition	
General Understanding or Awareness of College Attendance	
Self-awareness of College-level Academic Ability	
Close Proximity to a Higher Education Institution	
High School Academic Curriculum.	
Involvement in High School Activities	
Knowledge of Available Financial Aid	
Friends Attending College	
Influence of Parents	24
Influence of Other Individuals	
Influence of Friends	
Summary	25

Table of Contents



v

Stage Two – Search	25
Stage Three – Choice	
Influential Factors in the Search and Choice Stages	
College Reputation	
College Academic Quality	
Faculty Expertise	
Campus Atmosphere	
Campus Location	
College Cultural Uniqueness	
Academic Programs	
Hospitality/Friendliness	
Social Activities	
Campus Safety	
Campus Size	
Educational Facilities	
Employment Opportunities After Graduation	
Class Size	
Cost	
Availability of Financial Aid	
Advice of Family Members	
Advice of Friends	
Advice of Teachers or Guidance Counselors	
College Published Materials	
College Web Site	
College Advertising	
College Representatives	
Campus Visit	
Summary	
Tribal College Överview	
Tribal Colleges and Student College Choice	
Conclusion	

Chapter	Three –	Met	hodo	logy
---------	---------	-----	------	------



Chapter Four – Results

Introduction	63
Demographic characteristics of the Study Respondents	
Gender	
Age	64
Distance from Hometown	64
Number of College Credits Completed	65
Ethnic Background	65
College Experience of Parents	
Research Questions	
Research Question 1	
Sub-research Question 1a	68
Sub-research Question 1b	69
Sub-research Question 1c	
Sub-research Question 1d	
Sub-research Question 1e	
Sub-research Question 1f	
Research Question 2	
Sub-research Question 2a	82
Sub-research Question 2b	
Sub-research Question 2c	
Sub-research Question 2d	
Sub-research Question 2e	
Sub-research Question 2f	92
Research Question 3	
Sub-research Question 3a	96
Sub-research Question 3b	
Sub-research Question 3c	100
Sub-research Question 3d	
Sub-research Question 3e	
Sub-research Question 3f	107
Written Comments	108
Summary	109
Chapter Five – Summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations	
Introduction	110
Summary	
Summary of Findings	112
Research Question 1	112
Sub-research Question 1a	114



Sub-research Question 1e	116
Sub-research Question 1f	116
Research Question 2	
Sub-research Question 2a	
Sub-research Question 2b	120
Sub-research Question 2c	121
Sub-research Question 2d	121
Sub-research Question 2e	121
Sub-research Question 2f	122
Research Question 3	
Sub-research Question 3a	
Sub-research Question 3b	
Sub-research Question 3c	
Sub-research Question 3d	125
Sub-research Question 3e	
Sub-research Question 3f	126
Conclusions	
Stage One – Predisposition	
Stage Two – Search	127
Stage Three – Choice	
Practical Application of this Research	128
Recommendations for Further Study	129
Deferrere	400
References	
Appendixes	142



List of Tables

	Literature Matrix44	
Table 2:	Frequency Distribution of Answers in Stage One-Predisposition67	,
Table 3:	Top Three Questions by Gender in the Predisposition Stage68	}
	Top Four Questions by Age in the Predisposition Stage	
Table 5:	Top Three Questions by Distance From Hometown in the	
	Predisposition Stage72	2
Table 6:	Top Three Questions by Number of College Credits Completed	
	in the Predisposition74	4
Table 7:	Top Four Questions by Ethnic Background in the Predisposition	
	Stage75	5
Table 8:	Top Three Questions by Parental College Experience in the	
	Predisposition Stage78	
Table 9:	Frequency Distribution for Answers in Stage Two-Search81	1
Table 10:	Top Five Questions by Gender in the Search Stage	2
Table 11:	Top Five Questions by Age in the Search Stage	1
Table 12:	Top Five Questions by Distance From Hometown in the	
	Search Stage	6
Table 13:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed	6
	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed in the Search Stage	}
Table 14:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed in the Search Stage	}
Table 14:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completedin the Search Stage	}
Table 14: Table 15:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed in the Search Stage	5
Table 14: Table 15: Table 16:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed in the Search Stage	3
Table 14 Table 15 Table 16 Table 16	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage	3
Table 14: Table 15: Table 16: Table 17: Table 18:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed in the Search Stage 88 Top Five Questions by Ethnic Background in the Search Stage 90 Top Five Questions by Parental College Experience in the 93 Frequency Distribution for Answers in Stage Three – Choice 96 Top Five Questions by Gender in the Choice Stage 97 Top Five Questions by Age in the Choice Stage 99	3
Table 14: Table 15: Table 16: Table 17: Table 18:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage	S S S S S 7 €
Table 14 Table 15 Table 16 Table 17 Table 18 Table 19	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage 88 Top Five Questions by Ethnic Background in the Search Stage 90 Top Five Questions by Parental College Experience in the 93 Frequency Distribution for Answers in Stage Three – Choice 96 Top Five Questions by Gender in the Choice Stage 97 Top Five Questions by Age in the Choice Stage 99 Top Five Questions by Distance From Hometown in the 90 Top Five Questions by Distance From Hometown in the 10	S S S S S 7 €
Table 14 Table 15 Table 16 Table 17 Table 18 Table 19	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage	S S S S S 7 €
Table 14: Table 15: Table 16: Table 17: Table 18: Table 19: Table 20:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage	3 3 3 3 7 9 1
Table 14: Table 15: Table 16: Table 17: Table 18: Table 19: Table 20: Table 21:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage 88 Top Five Questions by Ethnic Background in the Search Stage 90 Top Five Questions by Parental College Experience in the 93 Frequency Distribution for Answers in Stage Three – Choice 96 Top Five Questions by Gender in the Choice Stage 97 Top Five Questions by Age in the Choice Stage 99 Top Five Questions by Distance From Hometown in the 107 Top Five Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 104 Top Five Questions by Ethnic Background in the Choice Stage 104	3 3 3 3 7 9 1
Table 14: Table 15: Table 16: Table 17: Table 18: Table 19: Table 20: Table 21:	Top Six Questions by Number of College Credits Completed 88 in the Search Stage	



Chapter One

Introduction

"My main reason for attending Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College is because my mother enjoyed her time here so much."

"I attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College because it is closer to home, it's a smaller environment and I believe it offers a lot for students with tutoring, support and supplies."

"It's a unique college with its Native American courses. The class sizes are small which makes one-on-one with the instructor possible."

"For Indian students, the main reason to attend is because it's a tribal college. For non-Indian students, it's because it's close to home, inexpensive and that we have a reputation for helping students and that our faculty really cares about their students."

The above statements illustrate an interesting observation: students choose the college that they ultimately attend for a number of different and often personal reasons. They are influenced by many factors and these influences are wide and varied. A clear understanding of what influences student college choice can greatly assist with the expensive and time consuming task of college marketing and recruitment activities. In addition, knowledge of why students choose the college that they do can help create effective and efficient recruitment activities. This, in turn, will attract students that will benefit and succeed at the institution.



With clear and on-going understanding of these influences, higher education institutions utilizing careful planning can target and promote the qualities that are important to building and shaping the student community. Colleges and universities can also use this information to strengthen areas that need improvement or to meet its mission, vision, goals, and objectives.

Background of the Problem

How students choose a college is a complex, multistage process organized in three stages (Braxton, 1990). It is through these stages that a student may make decisions that will affect his or her future education and career objectives. Hossler and Gallagher (1987) state that these three stages include predisposition, search, and choice.

Braxton (1990) states that the first stage; predisposition, refers to a student's decision to attend a post-secondary institution. This stage includes a student's goals and aspirations to be achieved by pursuing higher education. The search stage is characterized by a student gaining knowledge and information about the benefits and services from an institution and how closely they are matched to his or her own educational goals or needs. It is where all features of an institution are carefully considered. Finally, the last stage is where students apply to and make the choice on where to ultimately attend school.

What triggers a student's decision or predisposition to attend college? Interest can be stimulated both internally and externally. An internal cue can consist of a person feeling "ready" to attend college. A first internal signal could be one that is psychological such as boredom or anxiety. An external cue can be

2

caused by something from the outside such as a personal suggestion from a friend or parent. Also, external cues could be from a non-personal source such as a publication or advertisement (Kotler and Fox, 1985). Once interest is piqued, students move on to the next stage.

Stage two, search, is considered information gathering. Students, like all consumers, face buying decisions through gathering of knowledge about their intended product. Students balance the perceived costs against the perceived benefits. Expenses may include the costs associated with attending college, where the institution is located, or programs the school offers to students. Benefits may include faculty quality, activities, and financial aid. Usually, students enroll in an institution if benefits outweigh costs (Sevier, 1996).

A national study conducted by Stamats Communication in 1997, a college market research company, revealed the following college choice characteristics of 3,000 college-bound students. The major characteristics (in no specific order) desired by prospective college students included:

- Quality of faculty
- Availability of specific majors
- Safety
- Quality of academic facilities
- Availability of scholarships
- Quality of residential life
- Cost after financial aid
- Friendliness

ERIC

3

- Curriculum
- Academic reputation
- Ability to work part-time

(Sevier and Kappler, 1997)

During the search or information gathering stage, students use a variety of information sources. These items include publications, correspondence, telemarketing, and multimedia (Braxton, 1990; Sevier and Kappler, 1997; Straus and Van DeWater, 1997; Henley and Rogers, 1997). Students place a great deal of importance on information related to such factors as cost, financial aid, academics, and outcomes. In addition, personal letters and attention from college representatives (Sevier and Kappler, 1997; Braxton, 1990) influence them. From this information, students set parameters to manage their college search and to achieve their college choice.

After the search stage (stage 2), students form clearer pictures of the available choices (Kotler and Fox, 1985). Stage three, choice, then begins. Braxton (1990) states various characteristics about prospective students have been associated with the type of institution chosen. These factors are described below in more detail:

Location

Where an institution is located is a significant influence for prospective students. Closeness to home, the attractiveness of the city and the city's size are important factors.



The entire cost of attendance including tuition, living and other expenses are important factors. Students, like most consumers, want value for the money they spend. Students are debt-adverse. Many students are influenced by the ability to work part-time while attending college. Low cost and the resulting dollar savings are also important to students, as is the availability of financial aid. In Minnesota, the strong state scholarship program influences students to attend an institution in the state or to utilize the reciprocity agreements with neighboring states.

Image and Reputation

High on a student's influence list is a college's image or reputation. Students want to attend an institution that has a positive image and one with name recognition. Sevier (1996) illustrates with the following example: "When it came down to it, I just couldn't attend that other school. Even though it was in a more attractive city and they offered me more aid, the fact is that I really had not heard of it before they started sending me stuff in the mail. I decided to go to a college we knew – a college we had heard of."

Also important are the reputation of the academic and support programs and what alumni had accomplished in their work.

<u>Characteristics</u>

The characteristics of an institution are important on an individual level to students. These qualities can be loosely organized in groups of institutional characteristics like class size, academic programs, and campus safety. Another

5



<u>Cost</u>

set of themes can include those that relate to a student on a psychological or attitudinal level. Examples of these factors might be a perceived fun environment and friendly and supportive students. Another group of themes considers the aesthetic features including campus beauty and unique architecture. Also on this list of influences are job placement and graduate success. These areas of influence have many variables that are unique or mean a great deal to students on a personal basis.

Quality

Institutions cannot underestimate the importance of quality and the critical need to recognize and promote it. Quality of instruction, faculty, facilities, and the student community are all significant factors that influence student college choice.

Interpersonal Connection

Other people play an important part in students' college choice. Most often mentioned are parents who related their experiences or desires to the students. This communication often follows the importance of institutional location and the hope to maintain close family ties.

Friends are also a strong influence. Some students choose to attend the same college and maintain friendships that have developed over the years. Both parents and friends appear to have greater significance in college choice than other individuals such as high school counselors and teachers.

ERIC

Direct Marketing

Prospective students like to receive mail from post-secondary institutions (Sevier and Kappler, 1997). While it appears that colleges and universities may produce and mail a lot of materials, if a student is interested in a particular institution, he or she will look at it. College viewbooks, searchpieces, catalogs, and even external rankings are influential to prospective students. Students also like to see media promotion such as radio, television, and videos.

Among other marketing techniques, the campus visit, open house day, and phone calls from the admissions representative are important to a student's search and choice process. Increasingly, an institution's web site was noted as an important and influential source of information for students.

Family socioeconomic status is related to the perceived quality of the institution students apply to and attend. Cost associated with the institution does not appear to be related to family socioeconomic status. Student academic ability is another characteristic associated with college choice, as is the likelihood to attend an out-of-state institution.

The educational level of students' parents and parental encouragement to attend college appears to influence the type of college students select. Other characteristics influencing college choice include academic programs, tuition costs, financial aid, academic reputation or image, location, size, and social atmosphere. Students are also influenced by state scholarship policies and the availability of wide institution choice in a specific geographical area (Braxton, 1990). The characteristics students deem important in the stage two search



7

process are closely corresponding to those characteristics that influence college choice (stage 3). The key for institutions is to learn about these influences and use them to assist and improve the college or university.

One local community college could benefit a great deal from this recruitment-oriented information. Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College is a young, developing institution in Cloquet, Minnesota. Much of its student recruitment has been by trial and error. Little factual data is known about what influences its students to enroll.

Statement of the Problem

The problem in this study is that little is known about the factors that influence students to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College.

Purpose of this Study

The purpose of this study is to identify factors that influence students to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. Additionally, it was hoped that this data could assist with the development of a strategic student recruitment plan. From this information, the institution could identify qualities for promotion and advertising. It will also lend credibility for market research and planning at the college.

Research Questions

The following questions were developed as a result of a review of the major themes that emerged from the literature:

1. What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage one-predisposition.)



8

2. What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage two-search.)

3. What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage three-choice.) <u>Research Variables and Limitations</u>

 It is important to note that individuals who participated in this study represented a wide variety of students. They included students from all economic and social backgrounds at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. The study group was ethnically diverse. Participants represented a generally equal distribution by age, gender and parental college background. Overall, a larger percentage of students age 24 and younger participated in the study. In addition, a greater percentage of participants were from hometowns located 30 miles or less from the college campus. Students in the study were also studying a wide variety of subjects.

2. This study involved the use of a survey instrument that was developed by the researcher. The survey questionnaire was pre-tested with admissions directors from several colleges and universities in the Midwest. The intent of this pre-testing was to determine if the survey questions were appropriate in order to receive the intended information.

3, This study involved a single institution. The results may or may not be comparable to other tribal institutions.



4. This research was conducted in January 2000 at the start of spring semester. A fall administration of the survey may or may not receive different results.

5. A final note concerns the currently limited availability of research on specific influences regarding college choice for tribal college students.

Assumptions

1. Determining factors that influence student college choice can assist with strategic market planning by an institution.

2. Identification of key characteristics can encourage positive promotion and areas for improvement within an institution.

3. That this study can serve as a starting point for expansion and continuation of this information gathering by Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College.

4. Data collected will mirror that discovered in the literature search.

Significance of this Project

This project is, at its heart, a study of customer behavior. In preparing a strategic marketing plan, organizations must emphasize an in-depth understanding of the market environment. This is important, not only to understand the current situation, but also to anticipate changes that have strategic implications (Aaker, 1988).

Business and industry spend a great deal of time and effort trying to understand its customers and the factors that influence their buying decisions. Colleges and universities need to do the same to increase their marketing



efficiency and effectiveness. Many higher education institutions are continually trying to enroll more students, to enroll higher caliber students, or to enroll more students possessing desired characteristics. Understanding the influences behind college choice is the basis for building a solid marketing strategy. In this particular project, the areas of institutional location, cost, image, reputation, characteristics, quality, interpersonal connections, and direct marketing were identified as key influential factors.

Definition of Terms

The terms and definitions below are those that are most commonly used in this paper.

Student Recruitment – This is the process educational institutions use to attract and enroll students in their schools. It includes strategic marketing concepts such as customer, competitor, environmental, and industry analysis.

Direct Marketing – This includes techniques specifically aimed at a particular market. In this case, the market is potential students. Students receive materials through mailings and interpersonal contact via personal visits and telephone calls.

Interpersonal Communication – The process of communicating with another person through speaking, listening, and other similar skills.

Predisposition – The decision to continue or not continue education after high school (Borus & Carpenter, 1984; Braxton, 1990; Hossler, 1984; Jackson, 1996).



Search – The seeking and acquisition of college information and materials. From this search, "consideration sets" of desired characteristics are developed (Braxton, 1990; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

Choice – The identification and evaluation of institutions based on desired characteristics. From this information, admission and enrollment decisions are made (Braxton, 1990; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

Self-determination – The shift by the federal government to provide resources and support for the needs and choices of American Indians. (The Self-Determination Act of 1975.)

Summary and Conclusion

The complex decision-making process potential college students encounter can be organized in three stages. These stages include predisposition, search, and choice. Students are influenced along the way by a wide variety of people, publications and other materials, values, and institutional characteristics. Major factors influencing prospective students appear to include financial aid availability, academic quality, institutional image and reputation, program offerings, campus facilities, and faculty quality. Students tend to choose a college based on characteristics that are important to them and where benefits outweigh costs.

Many factors seem to answer the question of what influences a prospective student's college choice. In this study with Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College, they included location, cost, image, reputation, characteristics, quality, interpersonal connections, and direct marketing. Most of



12

these influences patterned those found in the literature review. Exceptions to these influences from the literature were factors that were related to tribal connections and specific comments about the campus beauty. These comments could, however, be categorized under characteristics much like students who choose a college for its religious or other similar affiliation.

It is this writer's opinion that there is much to learn about this subject, particularly for the tribal college point-of-view. Further and more in-depth study may reveal greater differences in how tribal community college students are influenced in their college choice in comparison to other community college students. It is knowledge that may hold great value especially for a young, developing institution in the process of forming its vision.



Chapter Two

Review of Literature

Introduction

1 -

Students are influenced in many ways when choosing a higher education institution to attend. These influential factors are key for a student to make a successful enrollment decision. It is also important for an educational institution's growth and stability to enroll students who will persist and graduate. Chapter two of this study will review concepts in the literature regarding student college choice as it relates to this particular problem. The problem in this study is that little is known about the factors that influence students to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College.

The main sections of this chapter include a historical background regarding college admissions, a discussion of the importance of college choice theory, a three-stage process of college choice including in-depth review of factors within each phase, a brief overview of tribal colleges, and a matrix of key literature.

The purpose of this research project is to examine factors that influence students to attend college. In this case, the study will explore the specific factors that influence students to attend a tribal college in northeastern Minnesota. Once these variables have been discovered, this information can be used for enhancing student recruitment activities by the college.



Historical Background

One of the most challenging areas in higher education is the area of student admissions, or the more current term, enrollment management (Brubacher & Rudy, 1997). Early in the development of college admissions practices, American college presidents canvassed the countryside seeking funds and students. During the 19th century, structured admissions practices began to emerge. These pioneering admissions staff members operated more from an admissions focus rather than one based on recruitment or marketing (Hossler, 1984). Admissions representatives promoted their own admissions statements and entrance requirements.

The "Golden Age" of American Higher Education began after World War II and the passage of the Servicemen's Readjustment Act (the GI Bill of Rights)(Brubacher and Rudy, 1997; Hossler, 1984; Kotler & Fox 1985). This legislation had a profound impact on colleges and universities as it provided federal subsidies for returning military personnel. What also was significant during this time was the availability of higher education to citizens other than those in the upper economic classes. Many first-generation students began to attend college during this time. Also important in providing access to higher education was the Higher Education Act of 1965 that encouraged college attendance through financial aid and other programs. This legislative act, combined with the large numbers of students from the baby boom generation, caused enrollment and system expansion in colleges and universities to soar thirty years ago (Hossler, 1984, Kotler & Fox, 1985).

ERIC

15

Shortly after the passage of the Higher Education Act in 1965, societal attitudes regarding higher education underwent change. The value of a college education began to be questioned and college graduates experienced more difficulty in finding a good job. In 1971, after a hundred years of growth, predictions began to be made that college enrollments would begin to decline (Berge, 1998; Hossler & Bean, 1990; Paulsen, 1990b; Zummuto, 1986). This, coupled with the fact that college education costs began to rise, was cause for concern with college and university administrators. In addition, pressure from ethnic groups and others influenced colleges and universities to keep pace with the evolving society (Brubacher and Rudy, 1997). As a result, the enrollment management field has emerged as an area of critical importance for higher education institutions.

Enrollment management is a set of practices that interact with each other to organize the current and prospect student populations. It often includes student marketing and admission, financial aid, academic retention and student services, new student orientation, and other activities. The goal of enrollment management is not only to admit students but also to retain them at the institution. Maintaining enrollment has become a critical concern for most institutions. In a recent report, Sevier (1997a) states that recruiting students must be one of a college's most important activities and it must be supported at the highest level possible. For the colleges and universities with higher selection criteria, appropriate enrollment management means maintaining or enhancing a student body with specific and desired characteristics. For less selective



16

institutions, it is a vital concern to attract the necessary number of students for financial reasons and sheer survival. It has been stated that perhaps the most important role an enrollment manager plays is to assist students as they select the college that best meets their needs and interests (Hossler, 1984; Kotler and Fox, 1985).

Understanding Why College Choice Theory is Important

Sevier (1997c) states that colleges and universities exist in a society that is changing at a mind-boggling pace. To keep up with the changing environment, higher education institutions must review processes and procedures that, while often traditional and historical, are not appropriate or cost effective to compete effectively in the current marketplace. Because of the rapidly changing world, it is important that higher education institutions position themselves to enhance their potential for success during an uncertain future. College and universities must consider best, worst, and most likely scenarios and be prepared to manage these situations (Aaker, 1988; Zummuto, 1986). If they do so, they are better prepared for what is yet to happen in higher education. Higher education institutions are responsible for anticipating market trends and activities that may affect them. They alone have a special obligation to accomplish whatever steps are necessary to build and maintain the college or university's viability and mission (Zemsky & Oedel, 1983).

Each year institutions of higher education spend millions of dollars to recruit and enroll students. Many schools have adopted strategic market research methods to assess and analyze their student populations. However, far



17

more schools depend on intuition and past experience to conduct marketing related activities. Many schools fail to develop a profile of potential students who are most likely to be interested in their institution, thus literally wasting those millions of dollars (Hossler, Vesper & Braxton, 1991). It is critical for colleges and universities to understand relationships of characteristics possessed by students, parents, and other influential individuals. It is also necessary to understand how these characteristics influence the decision-making of the students. Schultz (1997) calls it an "outside-in view of customers." As a result of understanding these characteristics, enrollment managers are able to create efficient and effective recruitment strategies that, in the end, will meet the institution's enrollment objectives. Effective enrollment planning and forecasting are key marketing oriented objectives. The tactics positively influence the enrollment decision-making process of prospective students (Paulsen, 1990b).

As mentioned above, the study of student enrollment decision-making or college choice behavior is an extremely practical operation that leads to greater efficiency and effectiveness. Understanding college choice behavior enables an institution to estimate the probability of student interest and enrollment. Understanding these characteristics assists enrollment managers with determining tactics to best reach these students through vehicles such as advertising, personal attention, and other similar marketing techniques (Paulsen, 1990b).

Much of the existing literature on college choice behavior utilizes some variation of a three-phase process. Stage one is called predisposition or the

Full Text Provided by ERIC

18

college aspiration formation stage. Stage two, the search stage, includes the assessing and review of college options. The third stage, called decision, involves the selection of the institution the student will attend (Berge, 1998; Hossler, Vesper & Braxton, 1991; Hossler, 1984; Hossler & Bean, 1990; Jackson, 1986; Paulsen, 1990b; Sharp, Johnson, Kurotsuchi & Waltman, 1996; Weiler, 1994). Within these phases are a number of distinguishing elements. The following discussion describes the three-stage decision-making process and the factors included in these stages.

The Three-Stage Process of College Choice

Stage One - Predisposition

The predisposition stage is simply when students decide to continue or not to continue their education after graduating from high school. It is the stage that is most heavily influenced by factors unique to an individual and begins with a preference or an attitude toward college enrollment. The factors leading to predisposition are not well understood. Colleges and universities have little affect on student college choice in at this point in the process (Hossler, 1984; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). It is these individual factors and processes that influence and shape a student's educational aspirations (Paulsen, 1990b).

The development of these aspirations to continue education beyond the high school level can take place over a long period of time from childhood through high school and sometimes beyond. From early childhood, many prospective students develop perceptions about attending college (Maguire & Lay, 1981). It is considered a life decision that has ramifications for students and

19

their families. It affects family ties and friendships, as well as vocational and career plans. Choosing to attend college may serve as an indirect measure of methods to achieve desired goals such as career opportunities, admission to graduate or professional school, intellectual development, and social status. College attendance is often also considered a slowed transition to adult behaviors (Galotti & Kozberg, 1996). Clinton (1989) suggests that a person's perceptions and attitudes are reliable indicators of their intent and behavior. Therefore, an in-depth analysis of these perceptions and attitudes are important to understand prior to the understanding of college choice characteristics and the development of a successful marketing strategy.

A number of factors are typically significant in the formation of a student's college attendance aspirations or predisposition to attend college. They include a general understanding or awareness that the student would attend college, self-awareness of college-level academic ability, living in a close proximity to a higher education institution, high school academic curriculum, involvement in high school activities, knowledge of available financial aid, friends attending college, and the influence of family, friends and other individuals. These characteristics suggest a student's level of predisposition to attend college as well as the desire or plan to reach an educational goal (Stage & Rushin, 1993). Following is a more detailed discussion of these factors affecting a student's predisposition to attending college.

20



Factors influencing predisposition

1. General understanding or awareness of college attendance

Borus and Carpenter (1984) state that a potential student's home environment may affect the decision to pursue higher education. Families with certain characteristics may be more oriented toward college attendance. These characteristics include homes with substantial reading material in them, where parents, fathers in particular, have experienced higher education, and where the student's parents are born in the United States. In addition to family characteristics that influence a student's predisposition to attend college, the prospective student's personal aspirations have an important impact on the decision to attend college. Aspirations and career plans of potential students are key indicators of college attendance. In addition, students who valued education were more likely to choose to attend college (Hossler, 1984). Jackson (1986) stated that in a study to examine individual values and attributes that influence college attendance, a strong desire to attend a post-secondary institution was the single most important factor correlated to college enrollment.

2. Self-awareness of college-level academic ability

Students who are aware of their ability to achieve academic success in college tend to attempt post-secondary education (Hossler, 1984). Individual self-selection plays a critical role in the predisposition to attend college (Manski & Wise, 1983). Factors leading to this self-awareness include grade point average, standardized test scores, and class rank. These factors support this characteristic of college attendance goals. Hossler (1984) states that 80 percent

ERIC Full first Provided by ERIC 21

of high school students who reported excellent grades planned to enroll in college. Seventy percent of the students ranked in the upper 50% of their graduating class plan to go on to college. Finally, students with high standardized test scores all tend to attend college indicating that student academic ability is an important factor in predicting college enrollment behavior. 3. Close proximity to a higher education institution

A study by Kohn, Manski & Mundel (1976) discusses that an important factor in student predisposition to attend college is the close proximity of a higher education institution to home. It was found that a low-cost, nearby college was an important stimulator of a student's decision to further his or her education. Hossler & Gallagher (1987) also concluded that the proximity to a college campus does affect college attendance rates. Students who live close to a campus are more likely to attend college though they may not attend the campus located near home.

4. High school academic curriculum

High school characteristics are included as a variable unique to the individual. Students in college preparatory curricula are more likely to move directly from high school to college. High school programs that emphasize greater amounts of mathematics and science tend to graduate students with a greater predisposition for college attendance (Berge, 1998; Borus & Carpenter, 1984; Hossler, 1984; National Assessment of Vocational Education [NAVE], 1994; Ordovensky, 1995; Sharp et al, 1996; Weiler, 1994). Heath (1993) also states that the quality or status of the high school plays a role in a prospective



22

student's decision to attend college. Hossler (1984) also reinforced this factor in his theory of college choice.

5. Involvement in high school activities

Borus and Rushin (1993) found in a study of prospective college students that high school activities were a positive predictor of a student's predisposition to attend college. Successful participation in high school activities are related to the predisposition and achievement in college (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Manski & Wise, 1983). Students who were involved in activities such as clubs and organizations were more likely to attend college.

6. Knowledge of available financial aid

Students are increasingly knowledgeable about the rising costs of college attendance. Students who are aware of possible financial aid in the forms of public grants and the indirect effect of parental income in acquiring this aid have been found to increase the probability of college enrollment (Lauer, 1998; Schwartz, 1985). In addition, Hossler & Gallagher (1987) state that early information on financial aid, as well as institutional costs, are important stimulators in predisposition to college attendance.

7. Friends attending college

Kohn, Manski & Mundel (1976) and Manski & Wise (1983) state that there is a peer effect that affects a student's predisposition to attend a post-secondary institution. They state that the larger the proportion of a student's classmates plan to enroll in college, the more likely that he or she will also make this choice. Jackson's (1988) study determined having college-bound friends was almost as



important in attendance decisions as were factors of high school curriculum and involvement in extracurricular activities. The influence of friends planning to continue their education plays an important role in a student's decision to attend college (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Sharp et al, 1996).

8. Influence of parents

Parents possess the greatest influence in a student's decision to attend college. Parents who consistently encourage their children to further their education help determine the likelihood of a student entering college (Hossler, 1984; Weiler, 1994). In a study by Stage and Rushin (1993), parental encouragement directly and indirectly influenced student goal commitment. Parents influenced both aspirations and plans. To some degree, parental socioeconomic status and combined parental income and education levels were additional indicators of influence on potential students (Murphy, 1981; Schwartz, 1985).

9. Influence of other individuals

People (other than parents and friends) who are respected by or who have close relationships to high school students can play a role in the college enrollment decision. Family members, teachers, guidance counselors, and admissions counselors can influence the predisposition to attending college (Hossler, 1984).

<u>10. Influence of friends</u>

Hossler (1984) reports that friends can be almost as important as parents in the decision to attend college. Weiler (1994) is blunt in his research study by

ERIC[®]

24

stating peer pressure is a variable or factor that influences a student's predisposition to attend college. Student preferences are sensitive to peer opinions and the need to maintain a sense of social belonging (Zemsky & Oedel, 1983).

Summary

In the first stage of the college choice model, factors relating to predisposition are examined. These factors include: a general understanding or awareness that the student would attend college, self-awareness of college-level academic ability, living in a close proximity to a higher education institution, high school academic curriculum, involvement in high school activities, knowledge of available financial aid, friends attending college, and the influence of family, friends and other individuals. In this college choice model, these factors of predisposition are likely to influence the second and third stages (Bateman & Spruill, 1996). Following the review of these unique influences, the next stage of college choice, search, can be considered as part of strategic marketing program.

<u>Stage Two – Search</u>

The second phase of the college choice process is search. This stage involves potential students seeking and acquiring information about different post-secondary institutions. It may also include learning about the characteristics a student should consider (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Students learn about important characteristics such as academic programs, faculty expertise, social atmosphere, financial aid, career placement, and others. This information is

25



gathered in a number of ways including reading publications, talking with admissions representatives, visiting campus, searching the Internet, and other methods (Paulsen, 1990b). During this phase, students begin to prioritize their preferences for the types of institutions they may consider. It is important to note that at this point the characteristics of the post-secondary institution begin to influence a student's preferences. Until this point, college choice variables were largely individual (Hossler, 1984). In this stage, colleges and universities may have a small impact on the decision-making processes of students (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

In the search stage, students gather information about educational possibilities and often assemble a consideration set of desirable characteristics in the ideal post-secondary institution. The search stage is not static and is variable, dependent on the student. In this stage, some students have a greater need for information than others do. Some students spend months gathering information while others make a decision in a relatively short amount of time (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Kotler & Fox, 1985; Sevier, 1998; Weiler, 1994;). Students with parents that have had some college experience tend to begin this stage earlier than other students (Galotti & Mark, 1994). Bateman & Spruill (1996) also state that in this stage economic variables begin to carry more influence in the college choice process. This variable continues to be important in the third stage of the model.

The search stage, while complicated, often achieves the desired goal. However, there are situations that occur that are not effective in this part of the

ERIC Fulltext Provided by ERIC 26

three-stage process. Students do not always use the information gathered in the search stage in a completely rational manner. Very often, students and their families do not understand all the factors involved in college attendance. This may lead to dependence on other individuals, including high school counselors and admissions representatives. This lack of information and parameters of a well-defined search may limit a student's options and eliminate potentially excellent college choices (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

Stage Three – Choice

Choice is the last step of the process. In this stage, prospective students identify and evaluate institutions that possess the characteristics in their consideration sets and submit applications for admission. These decisions to apply for admission after having included the institution in the consideration set are generally based on the fit of the desired characteristics and those possessed by the college or university. A broad list of possible colleges and universities will be narrowed to a small choice set. Ultimately, the student will enroll in one of these colleges or universities (Hossler, 1984; Kotler & Fox, 1985; Weiler, 1994). At this stage, colleges and universities have only a limited level of influence on the student (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

Often, this choice process will be complicated. Students must react to a wide variety of information received in a multiple number of ways (Maguire & Lay, 1981). A 1992 study of college-bound high school students (Galotti & Mark, 1994) observed students in the choice process. This research examined student perceptions and experiences in choosing a college. In this study, students

ERIC Pruil Text Provided by ERIC 27

described the factors they were considering in a college and ranked their importance. They then considered their college or university options and how each institution scored based on their group of factors. From this rating system, a college selection is often made.

Parents are a very important part of the choice process. Students and parents tend to develop similar college preferences. Often, but not always, student and parent individual consideration sets are blended into one single choice set. This choice set determines the institutions that a student submits applications for admission (Zemsky & Oedel, 1983).

At the successful completion of the search and choice phases, students generally have an increased sense of certainty and readiness about their decision. They are often optimistic and satisfied about the information and their choices as a result of the process (Galotti & Kozberg, 1996).

A number of variables influence students in both the search phase and in the choice phase. A total of twenty-four (24) items emerged from the literature on college choice. They include: college reputation, college academic quality, faculty expertise, campus atmosphere, campus location, college cultural uniqueness, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, social activities, campus safety, campus size, educational facilities, employment opportunities after graduation, class size, cost, financial aid availability, advice of family members, advice of friends, advice of teachers or guidance counselors, college published materials, college Web sites, college advertising, college



28

representatives, and the campus visit. These factors are discussed in more detail in the following section of this paper.

Influential factors in the search and choice stages

The following factors emerged most often as factors influencing the search and choice phases of the student college choice model:

1. College reputation

Institutional image or reputation has a tremendous effect on college choice. It is a powerful influence on potential students and college reputation is extremely persuasive in the college search and selection process. Students value the reputation of a college and it rates highly as an influential factor by students in the college choice process (Adebayo, 1995; Maguire, 1981; McDonough & Antonio, 1996; Murphy, 1981; Sevier, 1992; Sevier, 1986; Straus & Van De Water, 1997). Many students make their search and choice decisions based on institutional image or reputation (Sevier, 1994). In Sevier's 1986 study, more than 70 percent of the students surveyed stated that an institution's reputation was the number one factor influencing their college choice. Students using reputation as a search and choice factor keep in mind the institution's general reputation as a high-quality college or university (Choy, Ottinger & Carroll, 1998).

2. College academic quality

In a study by Rickman & Green (1993), academic quality was a central factor in the college decision-making process for students. However, many different items contributed to the area of academic excellence. They included

ERIC

29

academic strength in specific programs, the overall academic reputation of the school, and the perceived quality of the student community. In a study by Manski & Wise (1983), academic quality was found to be the most important determinant in the search and selection stages. Students also considered access a part of academic quality in their choice process (Sevier, 1998).

3. Faculty expertise

King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) suggest that an important motivator for student college choice were the college faculty members who made strong impressions on prospective students. These faculty members demonstrated competence and knowledge in his or her respective academic fields. Furthering this thought, when a faculty member individually contacts a potential student, this attention is often a positive influence regarding the college search and choice process (Hossler, Bean & Associates, 1990).

<u>4. Campus atmosphere</u>

The college atmosphere or environment generally refers to a type of institution, social prestige, and other factors (Jackson, 1986). The campus setting, including the types of students who were enrolled, was a factor important in the search and choice process (King, Kobayashi & Bigler, 1986). Also included in this area are factors such as campus appearance and physical setting. These characteristics are important to potential students (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Galotti & Mark, 1994).



5. Campus location

The location of a campus can influence students in a number of different ways. Research has consistently shown that where a college or university is located can be a major factor in a potential student's decision to apply and enroll (Sevier, 1996). Location can include proximity or distance. Some students may be looking for a school close to their hometown or place of work for convenience and accessibility (Absher & Crawford, 1996, Sevier, 1994). Other students may search and select an institution far from home for the experience of living on campus or on their own. Some students may search for or choose a college based on specific location criteria because of the recreation or cultural activities it may offer. Some students may simply choose a school because they liked the location (Choy, Ottinger & Carroll, 1998). Finally, Sevier (1997b) states that prospective students want education nearby with convenient hours of operation.

6. College cultural uniqueness

College campuses, like individuals, have unique personalities. The characteristics that make a college unique have an important impact on a prospective student's college choice process. These cultural features explain existing behavior and the environment that exists at an institution (Hossler, 1984). Some colleges consider these values to be at the center of all activities and continue to reinforce these aspects (Boyer, 1997). Cultural values continue to be a vital influence for some students. Many students are influenced by a college's commitment to cultural values and this reputation alone may be a significant factor in decision making (Hill, 1995; McDonough & Antonio, 1996; St.

31



Cyr, 1994; Stock & Schmid, 1980). A study by St. John (1991) found that student college choice is influenced by the social and cultural background of the selected institution.

7. Academic Programs

In an annual study of students on why they made the college choice that they did, the availability of an academic program was consistently listed as one of the main influencing factors (Sevier, 1994). The importance of this particular factor was also reinforced in a study by Erdmann (1983). In this study, Erdmann found that the availability of specific academic programs was the single most important factor in the college selection process. Litten (1982) also found that academic program options were a significant influence to prospective students.

8. Hospitality/Friendliness

Students are interested in the social environment of a campus. They want to know if students are open and willing to help others. Students want to feel accepted and that they fit in with the current students. They want to know if the current students are proud of their school. They want to be able to access other students and faculty members via e-mail to get their questions answered (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Hube, 1997; Sevier & Kappler, 1996; Sevier, 1998). In a study by Henley & Rogers (1997), the friendliness of a college campus was an impressive factor for potential students. Students in this study selected a campus because they felt they could stop and talk with any individual.

32



9. Social activities

Campus activities such as cultural events and sporting games are useful for influencing students in the search and choice stages (Dortch, 1997; Weiler, 1996). In Litten's (1982) research, participation in campus clubs and activities as well as outdoor programs and recreation were significant influences for a prospective student.

10. Campus safety

Prospective students consider campus safety an influential factor in the college choice process (Absher & Crawford, 1996). In an annual national college-choice survey conducted by Stamats Communication, Inc., campus safety was one of the top nine factors that prospective students consider. This is a relatively new factor of critical importance to prospective students and their families that has emerged in the last five years (Sevier & Kappler, 1996; Sevier, 1998).

<u>11.Campus size</u>

The size of the campus is often an important factor to potential students (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Erdmann, 1983, Hossler, Vesper & Braxton, 1991). Students will include colleges and universities in their search and choice processes based on comfort levels. Some students prefer a smaller campus with personal attention while others look for a large college or university with more anonymity. In a survey-based study by Erdmann (1983), campus size was one of the most important influences in the college selection process, consistently outweighing other factors.

33



12. Educational facilities

Educational facilities such as classrooms, laboratories, and libraries are important in a student's selection of a college or university (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Straus & Van De Water, 1997). The quality of academic teaching facilities was also rated as one of the most important factors potential students are influenced by in the college decision process (Sevier, 1998). However, students are only positively influenced by excellent facilities if access is available to them (Sevier & Kappler, 1996).

13. Employment opportunities after graduation

Students are often attracted to post-secondary education because of the career opportunities it may provide (Adebayo, 1995; Gray, 1996; National Assessment of Vocational Education, 1994; Sevier, 1998). Paulsen (1990a) states that students often make college choices based on existing job opportunities for college graduates. Students are interested in outcomes. They are influenced by what graduates are doing, what graduate schools they attend and contributions that they are making to society (Sevier, 1997a). Students are considering placement rates as part of their search and choice process. They want to be well prepared to compete in the marketplace (Perry, 1995).

14. Class size

In a study of hundreds of college-bound students, class size ranked as one of the top ten influences in a student's search and choice process (Straus & Van De Water, 1997). Students will tend to consider and select a college they



34

are comfortable with for their future education. Some students prefer larger class sizes while others prefer a class with a lower student-teacher ratio.

<u>15. Cost</u>

Price enters college choice studies in three different ways. They include the price of tuition, the total cost of college attendance including tuition, living expenses and transportation, or tuition and living expenses adjusted for financial aid. Price is a negative influence on college choice while financial aid to reduce costs is a positive influence (Jackson, 1986). Often, during the search phase, students include colleges and universities in the consideration sets that they can afford. Cost is a major influence for students. It helps define the group of institutions they consider options for themselves for their further education (Choy, Ottinger & Carroll, 1998; Sevier, 1994; Weiler, 1996).

<u>16. Availability of financial aid</u>

Financial aid awards are a significant influence on prospective students. Rising college costs are a serious issue and students are sensitive to this issue. In the last decade, financial aid is the factor that has become increasingly more important for prospective students (Lauer, 1998; Spiegler, 1998). In a study of more than 2500 college-bound students, the receipt of any financial aid was found to significantly and positively influence student college choice (Somers & St. John, 1993). As a result, students who receive financial aid awards are more likely to enter college (Jackson, 1988; Litten, 1982; Manski & Wise, 1983; St. John, 1991). Financial aid awards affect the net cost of college attendance. This means that financial aid reduces total college costs for students and their



35

families. Weiler (1996) found that the institutional choices by students were influenced by the net attendance costs.

<u>17. Advice of family members</u>

In the study by King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986), family members were the most important personal source of information about the college search and choice process. This influence was also found in a study by Adebayo (1995). Clinton (1989) also states that a student may select a post-secondary institution based on parental advice. Parents are involved in the basic question – to attend or not attend college and then which school to attend. Most parents are involved in the college search and decision process to some degree and often are a source of significant influence (Buford, 1987; Litten, 1982; Murphy, 1981; Rowe, 1980; Sevier, 1986; Sharp et al, 1996).

18. Advice of friends

One of the leading influences for potential students are their friends. Potential students gain a great deal of information about colleges and universities and consider this data as they make their college choices (Johnson, Stewart & Eberly 1991; Murphy, 1981; Rowe, 1980). A study by Adebayo (1995) determined that friends were one of the major information sources that affected a student's college choice. Sevier (1998) found that the student college choice process is influenced a great deal by student peers. Students are reluctant to choose a college that may elicit negative response by friends. In an earlier study by Sevier (1986), friends were rated as the number one influence (40.1% of the sample) in a student's college choice process.

ERIC

36

<u>19. Advice of teachers or guidance counselors</u>

Teachers are influential players during a prospective student's college search and choice processes (Graves, 1989; Johnson, 1991; Rowe, 1980; Stewart & Eberly, 1991). High school counselors can have a strong impact on student search and choice processes. This is particularly true in secondary schools where the student-to-counselor ratio is low, or when families hire private college counselors to assist with the college choice process (Hossler, 1998). Sanders (1986) found that high school guidance counselors often identified factors that had been missed or not understood during a college search and choice process. It is interesting to note in this study that high school counselors provided a more significant subtle influence than realized on the process than first noticed by potential students.

20. College published materials

In a study conducted by Maguire (1981), college published materials such as the undergraduate catalog, financial aid brochures, and others were rated as very important sources of information by prospective students. These materials, including card decks, video tapes, audio compact disks and CD-ROM, college guides, and others are easily available to students (Sevier, 1997b). Students are interested in the image of the institutions they are considering and college materials are an important source of portraying this image (Perry, 1995). Galotti & Mark (1994) found that students make use of different college materials and that the use of these materials increases and becomes more important during the search and choice stages.

ERIC Full lext Provided by ERIC 37

21. College Web site

Today's students, without a doubt, are the most technologically advanced and experienced than any previous generation. These students have access to and use technology in greater numbers than ever before. Many students have a computer available for use at home and at school, often with Internet access. College web sites are important sources of information for prospective students. In a 1996 study of college-bound students, nearly 11 percent spend two hours or more a day on the Internet. The web's influence is dramatically increasing each year, especially with advancing technology and its ability to deliver messages in a creative and personal manner with great speed and efficiency (Sevier, 1997b; Sevier & Kappler, 1996).

22. College advertising

Students are influenced by a wide variety of advertising in various media. These vehicles include newspaper, press releases, radio, television, and outdoor advertising (Schultz, 1997). College marketing through the media has grown tremendously in the last ten years. Television and radio advertising have been shown to be particularly effective in building institutional image and visibility, especially in specific geographical areas (Hossler, Bean & Associates, 1990).

23. College representatives

Maguire (1981) found that visits to high schools by college admissions representatives were rated as an extremely effective influence for prospective students. These visits often include review of college-published materials, individual discussions with prospective students and the opportunity for a



38

question-and-answer session with an individual possessing first-hand knowledge about a particular institution. College representatives were rated as a top influential factor in a study by Rowe (1980). These visits can be very conducive and beneficial for both the student and the admissions representative (Hossler, Bean & Associates, 1990). Another interesting finding was in a study by Litten (1982). Students with parents who possessed higher education tended to utilize the expertise of college admission representatives more in the college search and choice process than other students.

24. Campus visit

A campus visit provides value to both the student and the institution. A campus visit ensures a good match between the student and the college. Students come to campus with certain expectations such as meeting current students who are like them or instructors who show an interest in them. The campus visit is often a college or university's best recruiting tools. It is a major factor in the decision-making process (Henley & Rogers, 1997; Rubins, 1985; Ralph & Vancko, 1997; Sevier, 1992). King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) found that the campus visit was a major influence in student college choice. Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) found that the campus visit was <u>the</u> most important factor influencing a student's enrollment decision. The personal attention received by a student during a campus visit was a major motivator for student college selection. In this study, the campus visit was rated by a large number of students as the most important source of information in their college search and



39

choice process. The influence of the campus visit was similar in a study by Maguire (1981).

Summary

This section reviews twenty-four factors that influence the student college search and choice process. These items include: college reputation, college academic quality, faculty expertise, campus atmosphere, campus location, college cultural uniqueness, academic programs, hospitality and friendliness, social activities, campus safety, campus size, educational facilities, employment opportunities after graduation, class size, cost, availability of financial aid, advice of family members, advice of friends, advice of teachers or guidance counselors, college published materials, college Web site, college advertising, college representatives and the campus visit. When considering these factors or variables, students acquire valuable information to develop consideration sets of desirable characteristics in the ideal college or university. These consideration sets ultimately assist with the college choice process. Students select colleges that meet these criteria and, using this system, make a college choice that will be appropriate for the individual.

The problem statement for this project centers on why students choose to attend a tribal college. It seems appropriate to review the background of U.S. tribal colleges in order to gain a full understanding of the scope of this research. <u>Tribal college overview</u>

After World War II and the U.S. government's declaration of selfdetermination for American Indians, the importance of higher education became

ERIC Full first Provided by ERIC 40

more apparent. A college education could be used to improve and encourage growth on the reservation. This belief was one factor key in founding tribal colleges in the United States (Swisher & Tippeconnic, 1999).

Two barriers existed for American Indian students. First, many American Indian students faced problems with traditional admissions practices. The second obstacle, was the concern regarding retention once enrolled in a postsecondary program. The dropout rate for American Indian students is substantial, with many institutions reporting rates of 90 percent or higher (Boyer, 1997). Because of this reality, American Indian leaders took action and the first tribally run college was founded in 1968 on a Navajo reservation. Once this first institution was created, other tribal colleges quickly began in California, North Dakota, and South Dakota. These colleges were patterned after the traditional community college model with a philosophy of local control and dedication to local needs and culture (Boyer, 1997; Hill, 1995; Pavel, 1999).

Each tribal college in the United States is unique. The colleges represent the individual needs and culture of the sponsoring reservation. However, the tribal colleges have many things in common including the areas of governance, students, and financial requirements (Boyer, 1997).

Tribal colleges are established and controlled by an American Indian tribe and a board of directors. Members of these governing boards are generally American Indian. The college attempts to maintain an administrative autonomy from the local reservation tribal government, and most of the tribal college presidents are American Indian.

Full Text Provided by ERIC

41

Tribal colleges often have a student body consisting of a majority who are American Indian. Enrollment at tribal institutions tends to be in a growth mode. Enrollment is dependent on the community it serves as well as the length of time the college has been established. Tribal colleges are also attracting more and more non-American Indian students. This enrollment trait is a function of increased institutional reputation and the establishment of programs attractive to students (Boyer, 1997).

Funding for tribal colleges is a concern like it is for most higher education institutions. Financial support is provided through student tuition, by federal and state government, and privately through foundation grants. Like many non-tribal colleges, federal funding is always a problem because resources have not kept up with student needs in the past several years. Increased appropriation is a priority for most tribal institutions (Boyer, 1997).

It is important to note that tribal colleges find a continuing struggle between two cultures and strive to maintain a balance and appropriate direction. Tribal colleges are responding to the needs of American Indian people by providing training in many areas of need to their communities. Tribal colleges are preparing teachers, healthcare workers, scientists, writers, artists and a vast number of other highly trained individuals to support not only their community needs but also the needs of world. After thirty-two years, the founding of tribal colleges is a story of optimism and hope serving not only American Indian students, but all students.



42

Tribal Colleges and Student College Choice

Very little literature exists regarding why students choose to attend a tribal college. Boyer (1997) states that in the early formative years of tribal colleges, students who chose to attend a tribal college were frequently older than a typical college student and often a single parent. These students selected a tribal college almost entirely because of its proximity to home. Students who now attend tribal colleges tend to be more traditional in age. These students select a tribal college for its reputation as well as for its academic programs. Cultural aspects that exist at a tribal college are also important factors for these students. Students are interested in the environmental influences that are unique to the American Indian culture such as the inclusion of nature and art.

<u>Conclusion</u>

Chapter two examined the existing literature regarding college choice. This review included the historical background of college choice as well as the importance and practical use of understanding the college choice process. The chapter focuses on a three-stage process of college choice: predisposition, search, and choice. Within each stage are a number of factors that are typically important in the college choice process. Predisposition includes ten unique factors while the search and choice phases include twenty-four influential factors.

Students have a near overwhelming set of post-secondary options. In making college choices, students must consider those items most important to them. They may include institutional influences such as college reputation, cultural uniqueness, available facilities, and other factors. They must consider



43

personal influences such as family members and financial resources. They must look at demographic, socioeconomic, and other characteristics important to them. Understanding the subtleties of the college choice process will assist with a college's marketing and recruitment practices and more efficient use of college resources.

The following matrix details the identified factors with the related authors. (Table 1)

Table 1

Literature Matrix

Three-stage process of college choice	Author Berge (1998) Hossler, Vesper & Braxton (1991) Hossler (1984) Hossler & Bean (1990) Jackson (1986) Paulsen (1990b) Sharp, Johnson, Kurotsuchi & Waltman (1996) Weiler (1994)
Predisposition Factor	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
General understanding or awareness of college attendance	Borus & Carpenter (1984) Hossler (1984) Jackson (1986)
Self awareness of college-level academic ability Close proximity to a higher education institution	Hossler (1984) Manski & Wise (1983) Kohn, Manski & Mundel (1976)
High school academic program	Hossler & Gallagher (1987) Berge (1998) Borus & Carpenter (1984) Hossler (1984) National Assessment of Vocational Education (1994) Ordovensky (1995) Sharp et all (1996) Weiler (1994) Heath (1993)



Involvement in high school	Borus & Rushin (1993)
activities	Hossler & Gallagher (1987) Manski & Wise (1983)
Knowledge of available financial	Lauer (1998)
aid	Schwartz (1985)
· ·	Hossler & Gallagher (1987)
Friends attending college	Kohn, Manski & Mundel (1976)
	Manski & Wise (1983)
	Jackson (1988)
	Hossler & Gallagher (1987)
	Sharp et all (1996)
Influence of parents	Hossler (1984)
	Weiler (1994)
	Stage & Rushin (1993)
	Murphy (1981) Schwartz (1985)
Influence of other individuals	Hossler (1984)
Influence of friends	Hossler (1984)
	Weiler (1994)
	Zemsky & Oedel (1983)
Search and Choice	
College Reputation	Adebayo (1995)
	Maguire (1981)
	McDonough & Antonio (1996)
•.	Murphy (1981)
	Seiver (1992)
	Sevier (1986)
	Straus & Van De Water (1997)
	Sevier (1994) Choy, Ottinger & Carroll (1998)
College academic quality	Rickman & Green (1993)
	Manski & Wise (1983)
Faculty expertise	Sevier (1998)
Faculty expertise	
	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990)
Faculty expertise Campus atmosphere	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986)
	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986)
	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996)
Campus atmosphere	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996) Galotti & Mark (1994)
	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996) Galotti & Mark (1994) Sevier (1996)
Campus atmosphere	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996) Galotti & Mark (1994) Sevier (1996) Absher & Crawford (1996)
Campus atmosphere	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996) Galotti & Mark (1994) Sevier (1996) Absher & Crawford (1996) Sevier (1994)
Campus atmosphere	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996) Galotti & Mark (1994) Sevier (1996) Absher & Crawford (1996) Sevier (1994) Choy, Ottinger & Carroll (1998)
Campus atmosphere	Sevier (1998) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990) Jackson (1986) King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) Absher & Crawford (1996) Galotti & Mark (1994) Sevier (1996) Absher & Crawford (1996) Sevier (1994)



<u> </u>	
College cultural uniqueness	Boyer (1997)
	Hill (1995)
	McDonough & Antonio (1996)
	St. Cyr (1994)
	Stock & Schmid (1980)
· · ·	St. John (1991)
	Hossler (1984)
Academic programs	Sevier (1994)
	Erdmann (1983)
	Litten (1982)
Hospitality/ friendliness	Absher & Crawford (1996)
	Hube (1997)
	Sevier & Kappler (1996)
	Sevier (1998)
	Henley & Rogers (1997)
Campus activities	Dortch (1997)
	Weiler (1996)
	Litten (1982)
Campus safety	Absher & Crawford (1996)
	Sevier & Kappler (1996)
	Sevier (1998)
Campus size	Absher & Crawford (1996)
· ·	Erdmann (1983)
	Hossler, Vesper & Braxton (1991)
Educational facilities	Absher & Crawford (1996)
	Straus & Van De Water (1997)
	Sevier (1998)
	Sevier & Kappler (1996)
Employment opportunities after	Adebayo (1995)
graduation	Gray (1996)
	National Assessment of
	Vocational Education (1994)
	Sevier (1998)
•	Paulsen (1990a)
	Perry (1995)
Class size	Straus & Van De Water (1997)
Cost	Jackson (1986)
	Choy, Ottinger & Carroll (1998)
	Sevier (1994)
	Weiler (1996)
	·



	(4000)
Availability of financial aid	Lauer (1998)
	Spiegler (1998)
	Somers & St. John (1993)
	Jackson (1988)
	Litten (1982)
	Manski & Wise (1983)
	St. John (1991)
	Weiler (1996)
Advice of family members	King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986)
•	Adebayo (1995)
	Clinton (1989)
	Buford (1987)
	Litten (1982)
	Murphy (1981)
	Rowe (1980
	Sevier (1986)
	Sharp et all (1996)
Advice of friends	Johnson, Stewart & Eberly (1991)
	Murphy (1981)
	Rowe (1980)
	Adebayo (1995)
	Sevier (1998)
	Sevier (1986)
Advice of teachers or guidance	Graves (1989)
counselors	Johnson, Stewart & Eberly (1991)
	Rowe (1980)
	Hossler (1998) Sandors (1986)
College published metarials	Sanders (1986)
College published materials	Maguire (1981)
	Sevier (1997b)
	Perry (1995)
College Web site	Galotti & Mark (1994)
College Web site	Sevier (1997b)
	Sevier & Kappler (1996)
College advertising	Schultz (1997)
	Hossler, Bean & Associates
	(1990)
College representatives	Maguire (1981)
· · ·	Rowe (1980)
	Hossler, Bean & Associates
	(1990)
	Litten (1982)
	·



Campus visit	Henley & Rogers (1997)
	Rubins (1985)
	Ralph & Vancko (1997)
	Sevier (1992)
	King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986)
	Hossler, Bean & Associates
	(1990)
	Maguire (1981)



Chapter Three

Method of Study

Introduction

Chapter three will describe the research methodology used in this study. The purpose of this study is to determine factors that influence student college choice at a northeastern Minnesota tribal college. Specifically addressed in this chapter are the research design, the study institution, the population and sampling procedures, the instrumentation, data collection procedures, and the data analysis.

Research Design

One of the purposes of this study is to add to the existing literature regarding student college choice, specifically at a tribal college. In addition, the research will provide information that will assist with the development of strategic student recruitment marketing plans. These plans will identify key characteristics important to potential students and will assist with more efficient and effective marketing practices at the college.

This study has three main research questions that emerged as a result of the review of literature. These questions are:

1. What influences a student to chose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage One-Predisposition.)

2. What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage Two-Search.)



49

3. What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage Three-Choice.)

In addition, eighteen (18) sub-research questions were added to review the influential factors as they relate to the demographic characteristics of the study participants. These sub-research questions are organized under the main research questions. The sub-research questions are:

1a. By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

1b. By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

1c. By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

1d. By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

1e. By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

1f. By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

2a. By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

2b. By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?



63

2c. By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

2d. By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

2e. By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

2f. By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

3a. By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

3b. By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

3c. By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

3d. By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

3e. By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

3f. By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

There is very little literature that exists related to attendance at tribal colleges. Because of this lack of information, a descriptive survey research design was chosen for this project. Merriam (1988) states that descriptive



64

studies may be useful to provide general information about areas where little research currently exists. This descriptive research may provide a basis for continuing research in the area. This is also a quantitative study. Krathwohl (1998) states that quantitative methods of research deal with a deductive approach that includes planning and structure, validation of the questions, and describing the results using numbers (p. 27). The creative work of the study is in the investigation and preparation of the research prior to the actual data collection.

A written survey was used to collect the data in this study. Survey research is used to find out information about a population when this information is not available in another way (Kapplan & Saccuzzo, 1989). Survey research is also much more complex than simple status surveys. It attempts to seek not only the current status of a population but also tries to discover relationships within the elements of the survey (Graziano & Raulin, 1989). Surveys use a deductive orientation of the quantitative research approach (Krathwohl, 1998).

From the researcher's perspective, a written survey provided a number of advantages. The researcher could develop a survey based on the themes discovered in the literature review. A written survey was relatively inexpensive to produce and print. It was also easy to administer and provided anonymity to the respondents. Disadvantages included less opportunity for detail by the subjects and variations in the sample return.

52

The Study Institution

According to the 1998-2000 college catalog, Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College, located in Cloquet, Minnesota, was created by the Minnesota Legislature in 1987 and chartered as a tribal college by the Fond du Lac Reservation that same year. It has a commitment through its mission statement to meet the education needs of a diverse population.

The idea for developing a tribal college in Cloquet began in the early 1980s. The Fond du Lac Reservation Business Committee (RBC) assessed and determined that a need existed for a higher education facility in both Carlton County, where the college is located, as well as in the neighboring St. Louis County. In 1986, the Minnesota Legislature funded a feasibility study for a community college operated as a joint venture of Fond du Lac tribal government and the Arrowhead Community College Region. Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College opened in 1987, eight years after the Fond du Lac Reservation Business Committee determined a need for a community college as part of a comprehensive educational plan for the members of the tribe on the reservation. Classes were held at the Ojibwe School on the reservation and were immediately successful.

In 1987, the Bureau of Indian Affairs found that Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College was eligible for funding under the Tribally Controlled Community College Act and the Minnesota Legislature appropriated money for the college's first two years of operation. In 1989, the Minnesota Legislature authorized design development for the campus incorporating both Indian and

ERIC

53

non-Indian cultural values. The new campus was completed in 1992 and was able to accommodate 500 full-time students.

In 1994, the Bureau of Indian Affairs reconfirmed Fond du Lac as a Tribal College under the Tribal Community College Act. At the same time, Congress passed legislation giving Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College status as a Land Grant Institution. Additionally, the Minnesota Legislature approved Fond du Lac as a full college by state standards with co-governance language between the state and the Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa. Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College currently enrolls 937 students who study in a wide variety of programs (Fall semester 1999 total headcount – on and off-campus students.) It is also interesting to note that 90% of the students enrolled at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College receive state and/or federal financial aid. Population and Sampling Procedures

Students enrolled at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College were the target population for this study. Early in the design of this study, contact was made with the vice president for administration and student affairs and the director of public information and admissions. Both individuals indicated their interest in the project. Formal approval to proceed with the research was received from the president of the college (Appendix A).

While it was deemed nearly impossible to survey the entire population at the college due to off-site programs, variable schedules and other factors, the researcher and the college administrators decided that sampling the on-campus population was the most feasible option. Students would be surveyed at new

ERIC Full Text Provided by ERIC 54

student orientations and in a stratified random sample of the total number of oncampus classes that meet during a typical week. The stratified sample consisted of classes meeting in the morning, afternoon, and evening, on different days of the week, and in a variety of course subjects. The sampling unit was a class, not an individual, and was randomly selected from a master course list by the researcher and college administrator. The assumption regarding this stratified sample is that the characteristics of students would be different during classes offered at different times of the day. Timing of the survey administration was also important in this project. If the survey was administered late in the semester, students may not be as willing to complete the instrument due to the volume and intensity of their course loads. Survey administration early in the semester appeared be the most appropriate in order to receive information with the most directed student thought.

Instrumentation

The survey instrument that was used in this study, "Factors Influencing Student College Choice" (Appendix B), was developed by the researcher from factors derived from the literature review. This cross-sectional survey was created to measure the importance of these factors regarding why students chose to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College.

A group of experienced admissions and enrollment management administrators were organized to review the draft survey instrument for content validity. These individuals were selected because of their experience in the field as well as for their knowledge of enrollment management. Many are considered



55

experts in this area of college administration. They are employed at a variety of institutions including public and private, urban and rural, community colleges through doctoral degree granting universities. This method of validation often results in instrument refinement (Dixon & Martin, 1991).

The experts were sent a draft copy of the survey with a validation form (Appendix C). The validation form asked if the question was appropriate to the subject, if the question should be deleted, or if the question should be reworded. These individuals were provided with postpaid envelopes to return the materials to the researcher. The group of experts noted only minor adjustments to the survey consisting mostly of rewording suggestions that were incorporated into the final survey. A list of the expert's names, titles, and school affiliation is included in Appendix D.

In addition to the list of experts, a small group of administrators from Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College reviewed the survey for content and appropriateness to the population (Appendix E). This group suggested improvements to the appearance of the survey. More space was given for the overall survey plus the section directions were enlarged for ease of survey completion. Finally, the researcher's doctoral program advisor reviewed and approved the survey.

Following the survey review, application was made and granted by the University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board Human Subjects Committee to administer the survey (Appendix F).



The survey consists of a demographic section asking survey respondents to identify their age, gender, distance from home, number of college credits completed, ethnic background, and parental post-secondary experience. The next section consisted of ten (10) items regarding predisposition to college attendance. This section responds to research question number one – What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? The second section listed twenty-four (24) items regarding the college search phase. These questions directly relate to research question number two - What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? The third section listed twenty-four (24) items regarding the college choice phase. These questions deal with research question number three -What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? The questions were reorganized in the third section due to their similarity to the search section. This was done to avoid any confusion when being completed by the students. These fifty-eight questions used a five-point Likert scale for rating by the respondents. The Likert scale was organized with one (1) as strongly disagree, two (2) as disagree, three (3) as neutral, four (4) as agree, and five (5) as strongly agree. Finally, an openended question was listed at the end of the survey giving respondents an opportunity to list any additional factors that may not have been included in the survey. Respondents were also given space for other comments. These gualitative guestions give meaning to and reinforce the Likert scale results. The total survey consisted of 58 questions plus the open-ended question and

57



comment area on three single pages of paper. The survey was timed to take approximately ten to fifteen minutes to complete.

Data Collection Procedures

A number of steps were followed to collect the data for this research project. They included the preparation of a statement to be read to respondents prior to the completion of the survey, the in-person administration of the survey to students at orientation and in classes, and the secure data storage once the survey was completed. This survey was directly administered to achieve an acceptable return rate.

A statement was written inviting students to participate in the research study. This statement was read out loud to the students prior to the distribution of the survey. The statement began with the purpose of the survey and the approximate time to complete the survey. Participants were informed that no risks were involved in the completion of the survey and that their participation was voluntary. Students were also informed that they could not be identified through the completion of the survey and that the completed surveys would be kept in a secure location by the researcher. Students were also informed that their participation would not affect their current or future relationship with Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. Finally, the statement provided the researcher's name and phone number as well as the name and phone number of the researcher's advisor should any participant have questions or concerns.

Survey administration began on January 10, 2000 and was completed on January 26, 2000. This time period was selected as it was the start of a new

ERIC

58

semester at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. An appropriate group of new entering students as well as continuing students attending classes would be available to sample for the research. The surveys were administered inperson by the researcher and by a Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College administrator. This college administrator was fully trained in the appropriate survey administration procedure. A total of 270 surveys were completed and returned to the researcher. 42% of the total on-campus student population participated in this study.

Data Analysis

All completed surveys were handled in a routine and uniform method. As surveys were completed, they were placed in a designated container and kept in a secure and locked location. Each survey was reviewed by the researcher for completeness.

The researcher coded the demographic questions for ease of statistical processing. In the gender category, male was assigned a code of 1, female was assigned a code of 2. In the age variable, students age 24 and younger were coded as 1, students age 25 and older were coded as 2. In the distance from hometown to campus category, 0-30 miles was coded as 1, 31 or more miles was coded as 2. In the number of college credits completed category, 0-24 was assigned a code of 1, 25 or more was assigned a code of 2. For ethnic background, Caucasian was coded as number 1, African American was coded number 2, Hispanic was coded number 3, Asian was coded number 4, American Indian was coded number 5 and Other was coded as number 6. Finally, if the

ERIC Aruli Exet Provided by ERIC 59

student responded yes to the question of parental higher education experience, the answer was assigned a code of 1. If the answer was no, the answer was assigned a code of 2.

The researcher categorized and reported the comments from the openended question and the comment area of the survey. These comments are located in Appendix G. An independent statistical expert was hired to enter and process the data and complete the statistical analysis. This analysis used the computer software "Statistical Package for the Social Sciences" (SPSS) for processing the data. For the analysis, descriptive statistics were employed to determine means, medians, modes, ranges, standard deviations, variances and frequency distributions for each question. These statistics will be used to describe the data. Univariate statistics were used for the variables as well as bivariate statistics that report relationships between two variables. Data was also organized into cross-tabulation tables for ease of interpretation. In addition, in order to measure the statistical significance of the relationships among the survey items, a chi-square test was used in this study. Chi-square is a commonly used test that examines frequency counts (Krathwohl, 1997). Chisquare is used to compare groups to determine if different patterns of frequencies exist in the groups (Graziano & Raulin, 1989; C. Mehrotra, personal communication, March 16, 2000). Spearman's Rank Correlation test was also used to measure the association between two variables that constitute rank orders (Weisberg, Krosnick and Bowen, 1996). Independent variables used in this study included the areas of age, gender, distance from home, number of

ERIC Full Text Provided By ERIC 60

credits completed, ethnic background and parental post-secondary experience. A p-value for statistical significance of .05 was used for all statistical analysis.

The purpose of the statistical analysis of the data is to answer the research questions that emerged from the review of literature. These questions are:

- What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage One-Predisposition.)
- 2. What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage Two-Search.)
- 3. What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage Three-Choice.)

The data to answer the first research question and sub-research questions 1a through 1f were taken from survey items 1-10 (see appendix B). Values of 1 and 2 indicated a moderate or high level of disagreement regarding the factor. A value of 3 or neutral indicated indifference regarding the factor. Values of 4 and 5 demonstrated a moderate and high level of agreement of the influential factor being studied.

The information used to answer the second research question and subresearch questions 2a through 2f was taken from survey items 11-34. Again, values of 1 and 2 indicated a moderate or high level of disagreement regarding the level of influence on a student's search process. The value of 3 or neutral showed no opinion regarding the factor. Moderate and high levels of agreement regarding the search factor were designated by scores of 4 and 5.

61



Finally, the third research question and sub-research questions 3a through 3f utilized survey questions 35-58. Values of 1 and 2 indicated a moderate or high level of disagreement regarding the influential factor. The value of 3 or neutral showed no disagreement or agreement regarding the factor and the values of 4 and 5 showed moderate and high levels of agreement regarding the factor influencing college choice.

At the end of the survey, an open-ended question was included for the participants to answer. This question requested the respondent to include any additional factors that influenced their college decision that were not included in the survey. A second area was included for participants to write any additional comments. The written responses to the question and the comment area were compiled and are included in Appendix G.

Summary

The purpose of this chapter was to outline the methods used in this research project. A review of the research design was provided as the basis of the research. The population and sample that was surveyed was described. The chapter includes a detailed explanation of the instrument design. It describes the testing and approvals by groups of experts in the field. The method for collecting the data was reviewed. Finally, the method for processing the data and its statistical analysis was also included in this section. Chapter four will examine the results of this data.



62

Chapter Four

Results

Introduction

The results of this study on factors influencing student college choice at a northeastern Minnesota tribal college are presented in this chapter. Once again, the purpose of this study is to identify factors that influence students to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. There are three main research questions: 1. What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage one-predisposition), 2. What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage two-search), and 3. What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage three-choice). In addition, eighteen (18) sub-research questions are included in this project based on the study constructs. Chapter four includes a reporting of the demographic characteristics of the students surveyed at the study institution as well as a statistical analysis of the survey data based on the study research questions and sub-questions.

<u>Demographic characteristics of the study respondents</u>

A total of 270 students participated in this study representing 42% of the entire Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College on-campus student population. Survey participants were asked to respond to six demographic areas. They included identifying their gender and age, how far the college was located from their hometown, how many college credits they had completed, their

ERIC Prull Text Provided by ERIC 63

ethnic background and if one or more of their parents had attended college. The results of these questions are detailed in the following paragraphs.

<u>Gender</u>

Of the 270 survey participants, one hundred and fifteen (115) or 42.8% were male. One hundred and fifty-four (154) or 57.2% were female. One survey was returned with the gender question unanswered accounting for .4% of the total response.

Age

Two hundred and fifty eight (258) participants responded to the age question. For the purposes of this study, the researcher organized the ages of the survey respondents into two (2) groups. Group one was age 24 and younger and group two was age 25 and older. Respondents age 24 and younger (group one) numbered 165 or 61.1% of individuals answering the age question. There were 93 (34.4 %) participants who identified themselves as age 25 or older. There were twelve (12) missing answers in the age characteristic that accounts for 4.4% of the total response. The mean age for the respondents was 24.5, the mode age was 19 and the median age was 21.

Distance from hometown

Survey respondents for this characteristic numbered 267. Respondents were asked if the distance to their hometown from campus was 0 to 30 miles or if the distance to their hometown from campus was 31 miles or more. Two hundred and three (203) respondents stated that their hometown was 30 miles or less from campus (75.2%). Sixty-four (64) participants answered that their

ERIC Pruil Text Provided by ERIC 64

hometown was 31 miles or more from campus representing 23.7%. There were three (3) missing answers representing 1.1% of the total response.

Number of college credits completed

Survey participants were asked if they had completed 24 college credits or less or if they had completed 25 college credits or more. Two hundred and sixty five respondents (265) answered this question. Respondents indicated that 153 (56.7%) had completed 24 college credits or less and one hundred and twelve (112) or 41.5% of the survey participants had completed 25 credits or more. There were five (5) survey participants that did not answer this question accounting for 1.9% of the total response.

Ethnic background

Two hundred and sixty-five (265) survey respondents answered the ethnic background question. There were six ethnic classifications to select from on the survey. They included Caucasian, African-American, Hispanic, Asian, American Indian and other. One hundred and ninety-eight (198) or 73.3 % of the survey participants listed their ethnic background as Caucasian, seven (7) or 2.6% of the participants were African-American, six (6) or 2.2% of the participants were Hispanic, four (4) or 1.5% of the participants were Asian, forty-six (46) or 17% of the participants listed their ethnic background as American Indian, and four (4) or 1.5% of the participants listed their ethnic background as other. There were five (5) respondents that did not list their ethnic background accounting for 1.9% of the total response.



65

College experience of parents

In this final characteristic, survey participants were asked if one or more of their parents had attended college. Two hundred and sixty-eight (268) participants responded to this survey question. One hundred and forty-three (143) or 53% of the participants indicated that their parents had attended college. There were 125 or 46.3 % of the participants that answered that their parents had not attended college. There were two (2) respondents that did not answer this question accounting for .7% of the total response.

Research questions

Research question 1

What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage one-predisposition).

Data to answer this question was taken from survey questions number 1 - 10 addressing factors in the predisposition stage. For review, these questions are listed below:

- 1. I always knew I would attend college.
- 2. I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college.
- Living close to a higher education institution influenced my decision to attend college.
- 4. The curriculum in my high school influenced my decision to attend college.
- 5. My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college.
- 6. Knowledge of available financial aid influenced my decision to attend college.

ERIC FullText Provided by ERIC 66

 $\mathbf{79}$

7. Most of my friends are attending college.

8. My family influenced my decision to attend college.

9. People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college.

10. My friends influenced my decision to attend college.

Respondents answered these questions using the responses of (1) strongly

disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neutral, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree. The

answers to these questions in stage one-predisposition are presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Frequency distribution for answers in stage one – predisposition

(n=270)									
Question #	SD	Α	Ν	Α	SA	Mean	Std.Dev.	Var	
1	12	23	43	66	126	4.004	1.171	1.372	
2	8	16	31	80	134	4.175	1.045	1.092	
3	35	49	61	67	58	3.237	1.326	1.758	
4	64	58	75	45	28	2.685	1.285	1.651	
5	76	63	72	39	19	2.487	1.239	1.534	
6	46	33	74	70	46	3.138	1.319	1.738	
7	41	58	61	70	40	3.037	1.296	1.679	
8	21	39	58	87	65	3.504	1.222	1.493	
9	20	29	69	105	47	3.481	1.123	1.262	
10	34	52	95	69	20	2.959	1.119	1.251	

As shown in the above table, only two questions had mean scores of 4.0 or higher in stage one – predisposition. These questions include: question 1 - 1always knew I would attend college had a mean score of 4.004 and question 2 - 1I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college had a mean score of 4.175:



Sub-research question 1a.

By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Table 3 below depicts the top three questions broken down by gender in the predisposition stage. For simplicity, the researcher selected the top three questions of the ten questions in the predisposition stage for illustration in this chapter.

Table 3

Top three questions by gender in the predisposition stage

			(n=269)					
Question # 1 - I always knew I would attend college								
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	<u>A</u>	SA	Total		
Male	4 3.5%	7 6.1%	19 16.5%	24 20.9%	61 53.0%	115 42.8%		
Female	8 5.2%	16 10.4%	24 15.6%	42 27.3%	64 41.6%	154 57.2%		

Question #2 - I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college.

Male	2	4	13	28	68	115
	1.7%	3.5%	11.3%	24.3%	59.1%	42.9%
Female	6	12	18	52	65	153
	3.9%	7.8%	11.8%	34.0%	42.5%	57.1%

Question #9 – People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college.

Male	7	15	26	47	20	115
	6.1%	13.0%	22.6%	40.9%	17.4%	42.8%
Female	13	14	43	57	27	154
	8.4%	9.1%	27.9%	37.0%	17.5%	57.2%



Questions # 1 and # 2 had more survey participants rate this question "strongly agree" than question # 9 where the greatest percentage of respondents selected "agree."

The chi-square test was used to test the hypothesis that there is no relationship between gender and variables in the predisposition stage. This test showed no significant difference at the .05 level except in question 6 – Knowledge of available financial aid influenced my decision to attend college (.01622).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to measure the association between two variables that constitute rank orders in stage one - predisposition. Two questions - #8 – My family influenced my decision to attend college (.72590) and #9 – People other than my family influenced my decision to attend attend college (.75285) were large and positive indicating a relationship between the characteristics.

Sub-research question 1b.

By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Table 4 following depicts the top four questions (questions #8 and #9 had the same number of responses in the agree and strongly agree areas) broken down by age in the predisposition stage.



69

Table 4

Top four questions by age in the predisposition stage

			(n=258)			
Question	#1-lalways	knew I would	d attend col	lege		
	SD	D	N	Α	SA	Total
<u><</u> 24	4	11	23	41	87	165
	1.8%	6.7%	13.9%	24.8%	52.7%	64.0%
25 +	9	11	16	22	35	93
	9.7%	11.8%	17.2%	23.7%	37.6%	36%
Question college.	# 2 – I have a	lways thougl	nt that I am	academica	lly capable of	attending
<u><</u> 24	3	10	21	42	88	164
	1.8%	6.1%	12.8%	25.6%	53.7%	63.8%
25+	5	5	10	34	39	93
	5.4%	5.4%	10.8%	36.6%	41.9%	36.2%
Question	#8 – My family	y influenced	my decisior	n to attend o	college.	·
<u><</u> 24	6	21	34	52	52	165
	3.6%	12.7%	20.6%	31.5%	31.5%	64.0%
25+	14	16	22	30	11	93
	15.1%	17.2%	23.7%	32.3%	11.8%	36.0%
Question	# 9 – People d	other than m	y family infl	uenced my	decision to a	ttend
<u><</u> 24	6	16	43	66	34	165
	3.6%	9.7%	26.1%	40.0%	20.6%	64%
25+	13	13	22	32	13	93
	6.8%	6.8%	23.4%	35.3%	16.9%	36.0%

More survey participants rated questions #1 and #2 "strongly agree" than in questions #8 and #9 where participants answered "agree" more often.

A chi-square test for relationship between gender and the questions in the predisposition stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level except in



70

question #1 – I always knew I would attend college (.01091), question 4 – The curriculum in my high school influenced my decision to attend college (.01472), question #7 – Most of my friends are attending college (.0000), question #8 – My family influenced my decision to attend college (.00039), question #9 - People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college (.01999) and question #10 – My friends influenced my decision to attend college (.01962).

The Spearman's rank correlation test found no relationships between age and the predisposition characteristics.

Sub-research question 1c.

By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Table 5 on the following page depicts the top three questions broken down by distance from hometown in the predisposition stage.



71

Table 5

Top three questions by distance from hometown in the predisposition stage

			(n=267)				
Question # 1 - I always knew I would attend college							
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	Total	
0-30 miles	10 4.9%	18 8.9%	33 16.3%	47 23.2%	95 46.8%	203 76.0%	
31+ miles	2 3.1%	5 7.8%	9 14.1%	18 28.1%	30 46.9%	64 24.0%	

Question #2 – I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college.

0-30 miles	7	12	23	58	103	203
	3.4%	5.9%	11.3%	28.6%	50.7%	76.3%
31+ miles	1	4	8	21	29	63
	1.6%	6.3%	12.7%	33.3%	46.0%	53.7%

Question #9 – People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college.

0-30 miles	16	22	53	77	35	203
	7.9%	10.8%	26.1%	37.9%	17.2%	76.0%
31+ miles	4	7	14	28	11	64
	6.3%	10.9%	21.9%	43.8%	17.2%	24.0%

Participants answered "strongly agree" more often in questions #1 and #2 than in question # 9.

A chi-square test for relationship between distance from hometown and the questions in the predisposition stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level except in question # 7 – Most of my friends are attending college (.01596).



The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to describe the association between characteristics. Several questions had values that were large and positive indicating a relationship between the characteristics. These questions were: question #1 - 1 always knew I would attend college (.69934), question #2 - 1 have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college (.66943), question #4 -The curriculum in my high school influenced my decision to attend college (.95682), question #5 -My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college (.66601), question #8 -My family influenced my decision to attend college (.66601), question #8 -My family influenced my decision to attend college (.84998) and question #10 -My friends influenced my decision to attend college (.69932).

Sub-research question 1d.

By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Table 6 on the following page depicts the top three questions broken down by number of college credits completed in the predisposition stage.



Table 6

Top three questions by number of college credits completed in the predisposition stage

			(n=265)			
Question # 1	- I always	knew I would	d attend co	lege		
	<u>SD</u>	D	<u>N</u>	A	SA	Total
0-24 credits	9	11	28	43	62	153
	5.9%	7.2%	18.3%	28.1%	40.5%	57.7%
25+ credits	3	11	15	22	61	112
	2.7%	9.8%	13.4%	19.6%	54.5%	42.3%
Question # 2	2 – I have a	Ilways thougl	ht that I am	academica	lly capable of	attending
college.	6	8	21	52	66	153
0-24 credits	3.9%	5.2%	13.7%	34.0%	43.1%	58.0%
25+ credits	2	8	8	28	65	111
	3.4%	6.7%	12.2%	33.6%	55.1%	42.0%
Question #8	– My famil	y influenced	my decisio	n to attend o	college.	
0-24 credits	14	22	28	48	41	153
	9.2%	14.4%	18.3%	31.4%	26.8%	57.7%
25+ credits	7	15	28	39	23	112

A chi-square test for relationship between the number of college credits completed by the survey participants and the questions in the predisposition stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level.

25.0%

34.8%

20.5%

42.3%

13.4%

6.3%

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to describe the relationships between characteristics in stage one - predisposition. Two questions: #7 – Most of my friends are attending college (.64811) and #8 – My



family influenced my decision to attend college (.65851) had values that were large and positive indicating association.

Sub-research question 1e.

By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Table 7 below depicts the top four (questions # 8 and #9 had the same number of responses in the "agree" and "strongly agree" areas) questions broken down by ethnic background in the predisposition stage.

Table 7

Top four questions by ethnic background in the predisposition stage

			(n=264)					
Question # 1 - I always knew I would attend college								
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	А	SA	Total		
Cauc	12	18	26	48	94	198		
asian	6.1%	9.1%	13.1%	24.2%	47.5%	74.7%		
African	0	0	3	1	3	7		
American	0%	0%	42.9%	14.3%	42.9%	2.6%		
Hispanic	0	0	2	3	1	6		
	0%	0%	33.3%	50.0%	16.7%	2.3%		
Asian	0	1	0	2	1	4		
	0%	25.0%	0%	50.0%	25.0%	1.5%		
American	0	2	11	10	23	46		
Indian	0%	4.3%	23.9%	21.7%	50.0%	17.4%		
Other	0	2	0	0	2	4		
	0%	50.0%	0%	0%	50.0%	1.5%		

(Table continues)



5	<u>SD</u>	D .	N	Α	SA	Total
Cauc	7	13	17	55	106	198
asian	3.5%	6.6%	8.6%	27.8%	53.5%	75.0%
African	0	0	2	4	1	7 2.7%
American	0%	0%	28.6%	57.1%	14.3%	
Hispanic	0	0	0	2	4	6
	0%	0%	0%	33.3%	66.7%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	1	3	0	4
	0%	0%	25.0%	75.0%	0%	1.5%
American	1	2	8	13	21	45
Indian	2.2%	4.4%	17.8%	28.9%	46.7%	17.4%
Other	0	1	2	1	0	4
	0%	25.0%	50.0%	25. 0%	0%	1.5%

Question #2 - I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college.

Question #8 – My family influenced my decision to attend college.

Cauc	19	27	41	63	48	198
asian	9.6%	13.6%	20.7%	31.8%	24.2%	74.7%
African	1	0	2	3	1	7
American	14.3%	0%	28.6%	42.9%	14.3%	2.6%
Hispanic	0	1	2	3	0	6
	0%	16.7%	33.3%	50.0%	0%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	0	3	1	4
	0%	0%	0%	75.0%	25.0%	1.5%
American	0	10	11	12	13	46
Indian	0%	21.7%	23.9%	26.1%	28.3%	17.4%
Other	1	0	1	2	0	4
	25.0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	0%	1.5%

(Table continues)



	SD	D.	Ν	Α	SA	Total
Cauc	14	21	55	72	36	198
asian	7.1%	10.6%	27.8%	36.4%	18.2%	74.7%
African	1	0	3	3	0	7
American	14.3%	0%	42.9%	42.9%	0%	2.6%
Hispanic	1	0	1	3	1	6
	16.7%	0%	16.7%	50.0%	16.7%	2.3%
Asian	0 0%	0 0%	1 25.0%	3 75.0%	0%	4 1.5%
American	4	8	6	19	9	46
Indian	8.7%	17.4%	13.0%	41.3%	19.6%	17.4%
Other	0	0	1	2	1	4
	0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	25.0%	1.5%

Question #9 – People other than my family influenced my decision to attend

A chi-square test for relationship between the ethnic background of the survey participants and the questions in the predisposition stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level.

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to describe the relationships between characteristics in stage one - predisposition. Seven questions: #1 - I always know I would attend college (.97488), #3 - Living close to a higher education institution influenced my decision to attend college (.71801), #4 - The curriculum in my high school influenced my decision to attend college (.62867), #5 - My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college (.62867), #5 - My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college (.62439), #8 - My family influenced my decision to attend college (.81212), #9 - People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college (.74358) and #10 - My friends influenced my decision to attend college (.94651) had answers that were large and positive indicating association between the variables.



77

Sub-research question 1f.

By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Table 8 below depicts the top three questions broken down by parental college experience in the predisposition stage. For clarification, yes indicates parental college experience, no indicates parents did not have college experience.

Table 8

Top three questions by parental college experience in the predisposition stage

			(n=268)							
Question # 1 - I always knew I would attend college										
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	Total				
Yes	3 2.1%	10 7.0%	20 14.0%	33 23.1%	77 53.8%	143 53.4%				
No	9 7.2%	13 10.4%	23 18.4%	32 25.6%	48 38.4%	125 46.6%				

Question # 2 – I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college.

Yes	2	4	13	42	81	142
	1.4%	2.8%	9.2%	29.6%	57.0%	53.2%
No	6	12	17	38	52	125
	4.8%	9.6%	13.6%	30.4%	41.6%	46.8%

Question #8 – My family influenced my decision to attend college.

	SD	D	N	A	SA	Total
Yes	6	12	31	50	44	143
	4.2%	8.4%	21.7%	35.0%	30.8%	53.4%
No	15	27	25	37	21	125
	12.0%	21.6%	20.0%	29.6%	16.8%	46.6%



Participants answered "strongly agree" more often in questions #1 and #2 than in question # 8.

A chi-square test for relationship between parental college experience of the survey participants and the questions in the predisposition stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of questions #2 - I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college (.01718), question #5 - My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college (.00187) and question #8 - My family influenced my decision to attend college (.00071).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to describe the association between characteristics. Two questions had values that were large and positive indicating a relationship between the characteristics. These questions were: #6 – Knowledge of available financial aid influenced my decision to attend college (.78714) and #9 – People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college (.71571).

Research question 2.

What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage two-search).

Data to answer this question was taken from survey questions number 11 - 34 addressing factors in the search stage. For review, these influences are listed below:

11. College reputation

12. College academic quality



79

- 13. Faculty expertise
- 14. Campus atmosphere
- 15. Campus location
- 16. College cultural uniqueness
- 17. Academic programs
- 18. Hospitality/friendliness
- 19. Social activities
- 20. Campus safety
- 21. Campus size
- 22. Educational facilities
- 23. Employment opportunities after graduation
- 24. Class size
- 25. Cost
- 26. Availability of financial aid
- 27. Advice of family members
- 28. Advice of friends
- 29. Advice of teachers or guidance counselors
- 30. College published materials
- 31. College web site
- 32. College advertising (i.e. television, newspaper, radio)
- 33. College representatives
- 34. Campus visit

Table 9 below details the answers to these questions regarding Stage two -

search.

Table 9

				Ν	=270			
Question #	SD	Α	N	A	SA	Mean	Std.Dev.	Var
					40	0.474		4 405
11	17	22	89	100	42	3.474	1.051	1.105
12	11	17	92	107	43	3.570	.968	.937
13	13	18	112	94	32	3.424	.954	.909
14	10	8	67	103	82	3.885	.997	.994
15	6	15	40	84	125	4.137	1.009	1.018
16	21	24	96	70	58	3.446	1.153	1.330
17	8	12	63	116	70	3.848	.960	.921
18	9	6	65	107	83	3.922	.967	.934
19	21	31	126	58	33	3.190	1.050	1.102
20	18	21	111	77	43	3.393	1.057	1.117
21	13	15	57	93	92	3.874	1.094	1.196
22	10	10	93	108	48	3.647	.941	.886
23	8	16	77	91	78	3.796	1.020	1.040
24	11	10	56	104	89	3.926	1.025	1.050
25	4	14	47	90	113	4.097	.967	.934
26	22	22	69	71	85	3.651	1.233	1.519
27	24	39	80	89	38	3.289	1.146	1.314
28	27	37	91	92	23	3.174	1.092	1.193
29	23	37	107	74	29	3.181	1.074	1.153
30	23	45	122	62	18	3.026	1.003	1.007
31	46	55	125	35	8	2.643	1.007	1.014
32	32	43	125	56	14	2.915	1.022	1.045
33	32	43	120	55	20	2.956	1.066	1.136
34	25	25	90	76	54	3.404	1.178	1.387

The previous table shows that two factors - #15 - Campus location and #25 - cost had mean scores above 4.0 in stage two - search. Question 15 had a mean score of 4.137 and question 25 had a mean score of 4.097.



Sub-research question 2a.

By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Table 10 below depicts the top five questions broken down by gender from hometown in the search stage. Five questions are depicted in the following charts due to the large number (24) of characteristics listed in the survey.

Table 10

Top five questions by gender in the search stage

Question #	# 15 – Camp	us location (n=269)			
	SD	D	N	Α	SA	Total
Male	5	8	17	38	47	115
	4.3%	7.0%	14.8%	33.0%	40.9%	42.8%
Female	1	7	23	45	78	154
	.6%	4.5%	14.9%	29.2%	50.6%	57.2%
Question #	‡ 17 – Acade	mic program	(n=268)			. •
Male	3	8	30	39	32	114
	4.4%	7.0%	26.3%	34.2%	28.1%	42.5%
Female	3	4	33	76	38	154
	1.9%	2.6%	21.4%	49.4%	24.7%	57.5%
Question #	≠ 18 – Hospit	ality/friendlin	ess (n=26	9)		
Male	5	3	39	44	24	115
	4.3%	2.6%	33.9%	38.3%	20.9%	42.8%
Female	4	3	26	62	59	154
	. 2.6%	1.9%	16.9%	40.3%	38.3%	57.2%

(Table continues)



82

	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	Total
Male	7	7	28	48	25	115
	4.3%	2.6%	33.9%	38.3%	20.9%	42.8%
Female	4	3	28	55	64	154
				05 30/		
Question #	2.6% 25 – Cost (1.9% n=267)	18.2%	35.7%	41.6%	<u>57.2</u> %
	[±] 25 – Cost(n=267)	_			
Question # Male		_	18.2% 23 20.0%	40 34.8%	41.6% 42 36.5%	57.2% 115 43.1%
	25 – Cost(2	n=267) 8	23	40	42	115

Question # 24 - Class size (n=269)

A chi-square test for relationship between gender of the survey participants and the twenty-four (24) questions in the search stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of questions #1 – College reputation (.01842), #14 – Campus atmosphere (.04188), #16 – College cultural uniqueness (.00001). #18 – Hospitality/friendliness (.00432), #20 – Campus safety (.00247), #21 – Campus size (.00008), #22 – Educational facilities (.03834), #24 – Class size (.00552) and #32 – College advertising (.04592).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to measure the association between two variables that constitute rank orders. One question had a value that was large and positive indicating a relationship between the characteristics. This question was: #33 – College representatives (.60304).

Sub-research question 2b.

By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?



Table 11 below depicts the top six questions (questions #14 and #17 had the same number of responses in the "agree" and "strongly agree" areas) organized by age grouping in the search stage.

Table 11

Top five questions by age in the sea

Question	# 14 – Campu	us atmosphe	re (n=258)			
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	Total
<u><</u> 24	6	6	37	65	51	165
	3.6%	3.6%	22.4%	39.4%	30.9%	64.0%
25+	3	2	27	33	28	93
	3.2%	2.2%	29.0%	35.5%	30.1%	36.0%
Question	# 15 – Campu	us location (n=258)			
<u><</u> 24	3	11	25	48	78	165
	1.8%	6.7%	15.2%	29.1%	47.3%	64.0%
25+	3	2	14	31	43	93
	3.2%	2.2%	15.1%	33.3%	46.2%	36.0%
Question	# 17 – Acade	mic program	is (n=257)			
<u><24</u>	5	11	41	66	41	164
	3.0%	6.7%	25.0%	40.2%	25.0%	63.8%
25+	3	1	19	44	26	93
	3.2%	1.1%	20.4%	47.3%	28.0%	36.2%
Question	# 18 – Hospita	ality/friendlin	ess (n=258	3)		
<u><</u> 24 _	6	5	37	70	47	165
	3.6%	3.0%	22.4%	42.4%	28.5%	64.0%
25+	3	1	24	33	32	93
	3.2%	1.1%	25.8%	35.5%	34.4%	36.0%

(Table continues)



Question #24 – Class size (n=258)

	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	Total
<u><</u> 24	8	6	34	67	50	165
	4.8%	3.6%	20.6%	40.6%	30.3%	64.0%
25+	3	4	19	32	35	93
	3.2%	4.3%	20.4%	34.4%	37.6%	36.0%
Questior	n # 25 – Cost(n=256)				
<u><</u> 24	1	11	27	50	75	164
	.6%	6.7%	16.5%	30.5%	45.7%	64.1%
25+	2	3	19	35	33	.92
	2.2%	3.3%	20.7%	38.0%	35.9%	35.9%

A chi-square test for relationship between age grouping of the survey participants and the twenty-four (24) questions in the search stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of questions # 27 – Advice of family members (.03470) and #28 – Advice of friends (.00656).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to describe the relationship between characteristics. Several questions had answers that were large and positive indicating an association between the characteristics. These question were: #13 – Faculty expertise (.86681), #14 - Campus atmosphere (.67927), #15 - Campus location (.86535), #16 – College cultural uniqueness (.88069), #20 – Campus safety (.79201), #21 – Campus size (.96308), #22 – Educational facilities (.97339), #23 – Employment opportunities after graduation (.85689), #26 – Availability of financial aid (.60991), #33 – College representatives (.79311) and #34 – Campus visit (.73584).



Sub-research question 2c.

By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Table 12 below depicts the top five questions organized by distance from hometown in the search stage.

Table 12

Top five questions by distance from hometown in the search stage

	SD	D	N	Α	SA	Total
0-30 miles	4 2.0%	7 3.4%	31 15.3%	66 32.5%	95 46.8%	203 76.0%
31+ miles	2 3.1%	8 12.5%	9 14.1%	16 25.0%	29 45.3%	64 24.0%
Question #	17 – Acader	nic programs	(n=266)			
		10	53	88	45	202
0-30 miles	6 3.0%	5.0%	26.2%	43.6%	22.3%	75.9%

0-30 miles	7	5	57	76	58	203
	3.4%	2.5%	28.1%	37.4%	28.6%	76.0%
31+ miles	2	1	7	30	24	64
	3.1%	1.6%	10.9%	46.9%	37.5%	24.0%

(Table continues)



	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	Total
0-30 miles	9	10	44	69	71	203
	4.4%	4.9%	21.7%	34.0%	35.0%	76.0%
31+ miles	2	0	11	34	17	64
	3.1%	0%	17.2%	53.1%	26.6%	24.0%
Question #	25 - Cost (n	=265)				
0-30 miles	2	11	34	63	92	202
	1.0%	5.4%	16.8%	31.2%	45.5%	76.2%
31+ miles	2	3	12	26	20	63
	3.2%	4.8%	19.0%	41.3%	31.7%	23.8%

Question # 24 – Class size (n=267)

A chi-square test for relationship between distance from hometown of the survey participants and the twenty-four (24) questions in the search stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of question #24 – Class size (.04987).

The Spearman's rank correlation test indicated that several questions had scores that were large and positive. These questions were: #11 – College reputation (.78112), #19 – Social activities (.81150), #22 – Educational facilities (.91312), #24 – Class size (.80480), #26 – Availability of financial aid (.95608), #30 0 College published materials (.66181) and #32 – College advertising (.79327).

Sub-research question 2d.

By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?



Table 13 below depicts the top six questions (questions # 14 and # 17 had the same number of responses in the "agree" and "strongly agree" areas) organized by number of college credits completed in the search stage.

Table 13

	Top six questions	by number	of college credits	s completed in the search stage	
--	-------------------	-----------	--------------------	---------------------------------	--

Question # 1	4 – Campi	us atmosphe	ere (n=265)			
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	<u>A</u>	SA	Total
0-24 credits	6	7	36	63	41	153
	3.9%	4.6%	23.5%	41.2%	26.8%	57.7%
25+ credits	4	1	30	36	41	112
	3.6%	.9%	26.8%	32.1%	36.6%	42.3%
Question # 1	5 – Campi	us location (r	า=265)			
0-24 credits	3	9	26	49	66	153
	3.9%	5.2%	13.7%	34.0%	43.1%	57.7%
25+ credits	3	6	14	30	59	112
	2.7%	5.4%	12.5%	26.8%	52.7%	42.3%
Question # 1	7 – Acade	mic program	s (n=264)			
0-24 credits	5	8	38	68	33	152
	3.3%	5.3%	25.0%	44.7%	21.7%	57.6%
25+ credits	3	4	25	43	37	112
	2.7%	3.6%	22.3%	38.4%	33.0%	42.4%
Question # 1	8 – Hospit	ality/friendlin	ess (n=265)		
0-24 credits	4	3	39	60	47	153
	2.6%	2.0%	25.5%	39.2%	30.7%	57.7%
25+ credits	5	3	25	44	35	112
	4.5%	2.7 %	22.3%	39.3%	31.3%	42.3%

(Table continues)

ERIC Full Taxt Provided by ERIC

Question #24 - Class size (n=265)

	SD	D	<u>N</u>	Α	SA	Total
0-24 credits	5	7	34	62	45	153
	3.3%	4.6%	22.2%	40.5%	29.4%	57.7%
25+ credits	6	3	20	39	44	112
. *	5.4%	2.7%	17.9%	34.8%	39.3%	42.3%
Question # 2 0-24 credits	2	7	32	50	62	153
0-24 cieulis	—					
	1 3 %	4 6%	201 49%	57 / 1/0	4(15%)	58.0%
	1.3%	4.6%	20.9%	32.7%	40.5%	58.0%
25+ credits	<u>1.3</u> % 2 1.8%	4.6% 7 6.3%		32.7% 39 35.1%	40.5% 50 45.0%	58.0% 111 42.0%

A chi-square test for relationship between the number of college credits completed by the survey participants and the questions in the search stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level.

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to describe the relationships between characteristics in stage two - search. There were six questions that had answers that were large and positive indicating association. These questions were: # 18 – Hospitality/friendliness (.99659), #19 – Social activities (.84155), #20 – Campus safety (.77151), #26 – Availability of financial aid (.79462), #30 – College published materials (.85709) and # 34 – Campus visit (.65992).

Sub-research question 2e.

By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?



Table 14 following depicts the top five questions broken down by ethnic background in the search stage.

Table 14

Top five questions by ethnic background in the search stage

Question #	15 - Campu	is location (n=265)			
	SD	D	N	<u>A</u>	SA	Total
Cauc	4	9	27	55	103	198
asian	2.0%	4.5%	13.6%	27.8%	52.0%	74.7%
African	0	1	3	2	1	7
American	0%	14.3%	42.9%	28.6%	14.3%	2.6%
Hispanic	1	1	0	2	2	6
	16.7%	16.7%	0%	33.3%	33.3%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	1	2	1	4
	0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	25.0%	1.5%
American	0	4	7	19	16	46
Indian	0%	8.7%	15.2%	41.3%	34.8%	17.4%
Other	1	0	0	1	2	4
	25.0%	0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	1.5%

Question #18 – Hospitality/friendliness (n=265).

Cauc	8	4	52	74	60	198
asian	4.0%	2.0%	26.3%	37.4%	30.3%	74.7%
African	0	0	1	2	4	7
American	0%	0%	14.3%	28.6%	57.1%	2.6%
Hispanic	0	0	1	3	2	6
	0%	0%	16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	2	1	1	4
	0%	0%	50.0%	25.0%	25.0%	1.5%
American	1	2	8	23	12	46
Indian	2.2%	4.3%	17.4%	50.0%	26.1%	17.4%
Other	0	0	0	2	2	4
	0%	0%	0%	50. 0%	50.0%	1.5%

(Table continues)

ERIC[®]

90

Question #	21 – Campu	ıs size (n=2	(65)			
	<u>SD</u>	<u> </u>	Ń	Α	SA	Total
Caulo	10	12	41	60	67	109
Cauc asian	5.1%	12 6.1%	41 20.7%	68 34.3%	67 33.8%	198 74.7%
African American	0 14.3%	0 0%	2 28.6%	2 28.6%	3	7
					42.9%	2.6%
Hispanic	0 0%	0	1	3	2	6
A = ! = =		0%	16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	2.3%
Asian	0	1	1	1	1	4
	0%	25.0%	25.0%	25.0%	25.0%	1.5%
American	2	2	10	16	16	46
Indian	4.3%	4.3 %	21.7%	34.8%	34.8%	<u> </u>
Other	1	0	0	1	2	4
	25.0%	0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	1.5%
Question #	24 – Class s	size (n=265)			
Cauc	11	9	41	72	65	198
asian	5.6%	4.5%	20.7%	36.4%	32.8%	74.7%
African	0	0	1	4	2	7
American	0%	0%	14.3%	57.1%	28.6%	2.6%
Hispanic	0	0	0	4	20.070	6
mopunio	0%	0%	0%	- 66.7%	23.3%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	1	2		4
	0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	25.0%	1.5%
American	0	1	11	18	16	46
Indian	0%	2.2%	23.9%	39.1%	34.8%	17.4%
Other	0	. 0	0	2	2	4
	0%	0%	0%	50.0%	- 50.0%	1.5%
Question #	25 – Cost (r	n=263)				
Cauc	3	9	32	60	04	407
asian	3 1.5%	9 4.6%	32 16.2%	62 31.5%	91 46.2%	197 74 0%
						74.9%
African American	0 0%	0 0%	1	4	2	7
			14.3%	57.1%	28.6%	2.7%
Hispanic	0	1	1	1	3	6
		16.7%	16.7%	16.7%	50.0%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	1	2	1	4
	0%	0%	25.0%	50.0%	25.0%	1.5%
American	0	4	11	18	13	46
Indian	0%	<u> </u>	23.9%	39.1%	28.3%	17.5%
(Table conti	nues)					



	<u>SD</u>	D	<u>N</u>	Α	SA	<u>Total</u>
Other	1	0	0	0	2	3
	33.3%	0%	0%	0%	66.7%	1.1%

A chi-square test for relationship between the ethnic background of the survey participants and the questions in the search stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of four questions. These questions were: #15 - Campus location (.03224), #16 - College cultural uniqueness (.00000), #25 - Cost (.02681) and # 31 - College web site (.04389).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to describe the relationships between characteristics in stage two - search. There were six questions with values that were large and positive indicating association. These questions were: # 12 – Academic quality (.66056), # 14 – Campus atmosphere (.87197), # 17 – Academic programs (.70799), #24 – Campus size (.70846), #28 – Advice of friends (.89997) and #29 – Advice of teachers or guidance counselors (.60554).

Sub-research question 2f.

By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Table 15 on the following page depicts the top three questions broken down by parental college experience in the search stage. For clarification, yes indicates parental college experience, no indicates parents did not have college experience.



105

Table 15

Top five questions by parental college experience in the search stage

	SD	D	<u>N</u>	Α	SA	Total
Yes	2	11	25	4 3	62	143
	1.4%	7.7%	17.5%	30.1%	43.4%	53.4%
No	4	4	15	39	63	125
	3.2%	3.2%	12.0%	31.2%	50.4%	46.6%
Questior	n # 17 – Acade	mic Progran	ns (n=267)			
Yes	5	7	31	63	36	142
	3.5%	4.9%	21.8%	44.4%	25.4%	53.2%
No	3	5	32	51	34	125
	2.4%	4.0%	25.6%	40.8%	27.2%	46.8%
Question	n # 18 – Hospit	ality/friendlir	ness (n=268	3)		
Yes	7	2	32	62	40	143
	4.9%	1.4%	22.4%	43.4%	28.0%	53.4%
No	2	4	32	44	43	125
	1.6%	3.2%	25.6%	35.2%	34.4%	46.6%
Questio	n # 24 – Class	size (n=268	3)			
Yes	8	5	33	57	40	143
	5.6%	3.5%	23.1%	39.9%	28.0%	53.4%
No	3	5	22	46	49	125
	2.4%	4.0%	17.6%	36.8 %	39.2%	46.6%
Question	n # 25 - Cost (r	=267)				
Question		9	23	52	58	143
Yes	1 .7%	6.3%	16.1%	36.4%	40.6%	53.6%



A chi-square test for relationship between parental college experience of the survey participants and the questions in the search stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of questions # 23 – Employment opportunities after graduation (.02414) and #28 – Advice of friends (.04435).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to describe the relationship between characteristics. Six questions had answers that were large and positive indicating a relationship between the variables. These questions were: **#** 14 – Campus atmosphere (.79199), **#** 17 – Academic programs (.90583), **#**22 – Educational facilities (.89636), **#** 25 – Cost (.77470), **#**29 – Advice of teachers or guidance counselors (.88066) and **#** 30 – College published materials (.99334).

Research question 3.

What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage three – choice). Data to answer this question was taken from survey questions number 35 - 58 addressing factors in the choice stage. For review, these influences are listed below:

35. Campus atmosphere

36. College academic quality

37. Campus safety

38. College reputation

39. Campus location

ERIC Full Text Provided by ERIC 94

- 40. College cultural uniqueness
- 41. Academic programs
- 42. College representatives
- 43. Campus visit
- 44. Social activities
- 45. Faculty expertise
- 46. College Web site
- 47. Advice of friends
- 48. Employment opportunities after graduation
- 49. Class size
- 50. Education facilities
- 51. Availability of financial aid
- 52. Advice of family members
- 53. Cost
- 54. Advice of teachers or guidance counselors
- 55. College published materials
- 56. Campus size
- 57. College advertising (i.e. television, newspaper, radio)
- 58. Hospitality/friendliness

Table 16 on the following page details the answers to these questions regardingStage three – choice.



95

Table 16

· .				N	=270	·		
Question #	SD	А	N	А	SA	Mean	Std.Dev.	Var
25	10	24	<u> </u>	80	70	2 704	4 404	4.040
35	13	21	69	89	76	3.724	1.104	1.219
36	14	16	83	.110	45	3.582	1.008	1.016
37	21	21	113	72	41	3.340	1.078	1.161
38	15	19	98	88	47	3.498	1.042	1.086
39	11	14	39	72	131	4.116	1.099	1.208
40	24	24	95	62	62	3.427	1.197	1.434
41	9	13	69	91	86	3.866	1.030	1.061
42	22	33	110	70	33	3.220	1.078	1.161
43	25	32	89	71	50	3.333	1.185	1.404
44	35	39	130	41	22	2.910	1.072	1.150
45	18	21	107	79	42	3.397	1.058	1.120
46	47	47	124	33	15	2.707	1.073	1.151
47	32	35	100	69	31	3.120	1.151	1.324
48	17	27	75	85	64	3.567	1.145	1.310
49	11	20	62	84	91	3.836	1.103	1.216
50	16	23	94	84	51	3.489	1.079	1.165
51	29	26	76	72	65	3.440	1.257	1.581
52	27	37	83	70	50	3.296	1.213	1.472
53	8	19	61	70	109	3.948	1.092	1.193
.54	25	29	103	70	41	3.272	1.134	1.285
55	24	36	125	57	25	3.086	1.039	1.079
56	19	19	63	83	84	3.724	1.183	1.399
57	32	33	120	60	23	3.034	1.082	1.171
58	_16	13	62	96	81	3.795	1.108	1.227

Frequency distribution for answers in stage three - choice

Table 3 shows that only one factor - # 39, campus location, had a mean score of4.0 or higher in stage three - choice. Question #39 had a mean score of 4.116.

Sub-research question 3a.

By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?



Table 17 below depicts the top five questions broken down by gender from hometown in the choice stage. Five questions are depicted in the following charts due to the large number (24) of characteristics listed in the survey.

Table 17

Question #	# 39 - Camp	us location (n=266)			
	<u>SD</u>	D	N	А	SA	Total
Male	10	9	16	37	43	115
	8.7%	7.8%	13.9%	32.2%	37.4%	43.2%
Female	1	5	23	34	88	151
	.7%	3.3%	15.2%	22.5%	58.3%	56.8%
Question #	ŧ 41 – Acade	mic program	s (n=267)			
Male	4	7	31	33	40	115
	3.5%	6.1%	27.0%	28.7%	34.8%	43.1%
Female	5	6	38	57	46	152
	3.3%	3.9%	25.0%	37.5%	30.3%	56.9%
Question #	49 – Class	size (n=267))			
Male	8	13	35	33	26	115
	7.0%	11.3%	30.4%	28.7 %	22.6%	43.1%
Female	3	7	27	50	65	152
	2.0%	4.6%	17.8%	32.9%	42.8%	56.9%
Question #	53 - Cost (r	า=266)				
Male	6	13	29	27	39	114
	5.3%	11.4%	25.4%	23.7%	34.2%	42.9%
Female	2	6	32	42	70	152
	1.3%	3.9%	21.1%	27.6%	46.1%	57.1%

(Table continues)

97



	<u>SD</u>	D	N	Α	SA	<u>Total</u>
Male	11	8	40	34	22	115
	9.6%	7.0%	34.8%	29.6%	19.1%	43.1%
Female	5	5	21	62	59	152
	3.3%	3.3%	13.8%	40.8%	38.8%	56.9%

Question # 58 – Hospitality/friendliness (n=267)

A chi-square test for relationship between gender of the survey participants and the twenty-four (24) questions in the choice stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of several questions. These twelve questions include: # 35 – Campus atmosphere (.00001), # 36 – College academic quality (.00039), # 37 – Campus safety (.00000), # 38 – College reputation (.02387), # 39 – Campus location (.00034), # 40 – College cultural uniqueness (.00005), # 43 – Campus visit (.00068), # 49 – Class size (.00039), # 51 – Availability of financial aid (.01319), # 53 – Cost (.02048), # 56 – Campus size (.00035) and # 58 – Hospitality/friendliness (.00001).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to measure the association between two variables that constitute rank orders. Three questions had values that were large and positive indicating a relationship between the characteristics. These questions were: # 41 – Academic program (.96465), #46 – College web site (.97951) and #48 – Employment opportunities after graduation (.86670).

Sub-research question 3b.

By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?



98

Table 18 below depicts the top five questions (questions #14 and #17 had the same number of responses in the "agree" and "strongly agree" areas) organized by age grouping in the choice stage.

Table 18

Top five questions b	y age in the choice stage
----------------------	---------------------------

Question	1 # 39 – Campu	us location (n=255)			
	SD	<u>D</u>	N	Α	SA	Total
<u><</u> 24	7	13	24	42	77	163
	4.3%	8.0%	14.7%	25.8%	47.2%	63.9%
25+	3	1	13	24	51	92
	3.3%	1.1%	14.1%	26.1%	55.4%	36.1%
Question	a # 49 – Class :	size (n=256)			
<u><</u> 24	8	12	33	55	55	163
	4.9%	7.4%	20.2%	33.7%	33.7%	63.7%
25+	3	8	24	25	33	93
	3.2%	8.6%	25.8%	26.9%	35.5%	36.3%
Question	1 # 53 - Cost (I	n=255)				
<u><24</u>	4	11	32	42	74	163
	2.5%	6.7%	19.6%	25.8%	45.4%	63.9%
25+	3	7	26	26	30	92
	3.3%	7.6%	28.3%	28.3%	32.6%	36.1%
Question	# 56 – Campu	ıs size (n=2	56)			
<u><</u> 24 _	9	13	35	.53	53	163
	5.5%	8.0%	21.5%	32.5%	32.5%	63.7%
25+	8	6	24	26	29	93
	8.6%	6.5%	25.8%	28.0%	31.2%	36.3%

(Table continues)

99



	SD	D	N	A	SA	Total
<u><</u> 24	7	10	40	64	42	163
	4.3%	6.1%	24.5%	39.3%	25.8%	63.7%
25+	6	3	18	29	37	93
	6.5%	3.2%	19.4%	31.2%	39.8%	36.3%

Question # 59 – Hospitality/friendliness (n=256)

A chi-square test for relationship between age grouping of the survey participants and the twenty-four (24) questions in the choice stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of questions # 41 Academic programs (.02738), # 44 – Social activities (.02124) and # 46 – College web site (.03164).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to describe the relationship between characteristics. Two questions had scores that were large and positive indicating a relationship between the characteristics. These questions were: **#** 49 – Class size (.86148) and **#**55 – College published materials (.77209).

Sub-research question 3c.

By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Table 19 below depicts the top five questions organized by distance from hometown in the choice stage.



100

Table 19

Top five questions by distance from hometown in the choice stage

Question #	39 –.Campi	us location (na	=264)			
	SD	<u>D</u>	N	Α	SA	Total
0-30 miles	8	7	28	50	110	203
	3.9%	3.4%	13.8%	24.6%	54.2%	76.9%
31+ miles	3	7	11	20	20	61
	4.9%	11.5%	18.0%	32.8%	32.8%	23.1%
Question #	41 – Acade	mic programs	(n=265)			
0-30 miles	6	10	55	70	62	203
	3.0%	4.9%	27.1%	34.5%	30.5 <u>%</u>	76.6%
31+ miles	2	3	14	20	23	62
	3.2%	4.8%	22.6%	32.3%	37.1%	23.4%
Question # 4	49 - Class	size (n=265)				
0-30 miles	7	16	47	61	72	203
	3.4%	7.9%	23.2%	30.0%	35.5%	76.6%
31+ miles	4	4	14	23	17	62
	6.5%	6.5%	22.6%	37.1%	27.4%	23.4%
Question #	53 – Cost	(n=264)				
0-30 miles	6	14	48	63	91	202
	3.0%	6.9%	23.8%	21.3%	45.0%	76.5%
31+ miles	2	4	13	26	17	62
	3.2%	6.5%	21.0%	41.9%	27.4%	23.5%
Question # {	58 – Hospita	ality/friendline	ss (n=265))		·
0-30 miles	13	9	47	72	62	203
	6.4%	4.4%	23.2%	35.5%	30.5%	76.6%
31+ miles	2	4	15	23	18	62
	3.2%	6.5%	24.2%	37.1%	29.0%	23.4%



101

A chi-square test for relationship between distance from hometown of the survey participants and the twenty-four (24) questions in the choice stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of questions # 30 – Campus location (.01798) and # 53 – Cost (.02121).

The Spearman's rank correlation test indicated that several questions had scores that were large and positive. These questions were: # 35 – Campus atmosphere (.82888), #37 – Campus safety (.69273), # 38 – College reputation (.91999), # 48 – Employment opportunities after graduation (.68892), # 51 – Availability of financial aid (.63067), # 56 – Campus size (.93980) and # 58 – Hospitality/friendliness (.97400).

Sub-research question 3d.

By college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Table 20 below depicts the top five questions organized by number of college credits completed in the choice stage.

Table 20

Top five questions by number of college credits completed in the choice stage

Question #3	39 – Camp	us location ((n=263)		<u></u>	-
	<u>SD</u>	D	<u>N</u>	Α	SA	Total
0-24 credits	6	7	27	39	72	151
	4.0%	4.6%	17.9%	25.8%	47.7%	57.4%
25+ credits	5	7	12	29	59	112
	4.5%	6.3%	10.7%	25.9%	52.7%	42.6%

(Table continues)



Question # 41 – Academic programs (n=264)	Question #	41 -	Academic	programs	(n=264)
---	------------	------	----------	----------	---------

6.3%

8.0%

	SD	D	<u>N</u>	А	SA	Total
0-24 credits	4	8	48	58	34	152
	2.6%	5.3%	31.6%	38.2%	22.4%	57.6%
25+ credits	4	5	21	30	52	112
	3.6%	4.5%	18.8%	26.8%	46.4%	42.4%
Question # 4	9 – Class s	ize (n=264)			
0-24 credits	5	11	37	49	50	152
	3.3%	7.2%	24.3%	32.2%	32.9%	57.6%
25+ credits	6	9	24	33	40	112
	5.4%	8.0%	21.4%	29.5%	35.7%	42.4%
Question # 5	3–Cost (r	1=263)				
0-24 credits	2	9	38	42	60	151
	1.3%	6.0%	25.2%	27.8%	39.7%	57.4%
25+ credits	6	9	22	26 ·	49	112
	5.4%	8.0 %	19.6%	23.2%	43.8%	42.6%
Question # 5	8 – Hospita	lity/friendlin	ess (n=264	!)		
0-24 credits	8	4	36	65	39	152
	5.3%	2.6%	23.7%	42.8%	25.7%	57.6%
25+ credits	7	9	26	29	41	112

A chi-square test for relationship between the number of college credits completed by the survey participants and the questions in the choice stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of the following questions: # 36 – Academic quality (.02034), # 37 – Campus safety (.03407), # 40 – College cultural awareness (.01243), # 41 – Academic programs (.00108), # 42 – College representatives (.01123), # 43 – Campus visit (.02231), # 45 – Faculty expertise (.00966), #52 – Advice from family members (.02611),

23.2%

25.9%

36.6%

42.4%



54 – Advice of teachers or guidance counselors (.02252), # 55 – College published materials (.03344) and # 58 – Hospitality/friendliness (.02018).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to describe the relationships between characteristics in stage three - choice. There were five questions that had scores that were large and positive indicating linear association. These questions were: # 38 - College reputation (.97471), # 49 - Class size (.91482), # 50 - Educational facilities (.88798), # 53 - Cost (.97593) and # 58 - Hospitality/friendliness (.79462).

Sub-research question 3e.

By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Table 21 below depicts the top five questions broken down by ethnic background in the choice stage.

Table 21

Top five questions by ethnic background in the choice stage

Question #	39 – Campu	is location (n=262)			
	<u>SD</u>	D	<u>N</u>	Α	SA	Total
Cauc	10	11	25	46	105	197
asian	5.1%	5.6%	12.7%	23.4%	53.3%	75.2%
African	0	0	2	2	3	7
American	0%	0%	28.6%	28.6%	42.9%	2.7%
Hispanic	1	1	0	3	1	6
	16.7%	16.7%	0%	50.0%	16.7%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	2	2	0	4
	0%	0%	50.0%	50.0%	0%	1.5%
American	0	2	8	17	19	46
Indian	0%	4.3%	17.4%	37.0%	41.3%	17.6%
			104			



	SD	D	Ν	Α	SA	<u> Total </u>
Other	0	0	0	0	2	2
	0%	0%	0%	0%	100.0%	1.5%

Question # 41 – Academic programs (n=263).

Cauc	7	12	48	65	65	197
asian	3.6%	6.1%	24.4%	33.0%	33.3%	74.9%
African	0	0	1	2	4	7 2.7%
American	0%	0%	14.3%	28.6%	57.1%	
Hispanic	0	0	2	3	1	6
	0%	0%	33.3%	50.0%	16.7%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	4	0	0	4
	0%	0%	100.0%	0%	0%	1.5%
American	2	1	13	16	14	46
Indian	4.3%	2.2%	28.3%	34.8%	30.4%	17.5%
Other	0	0	0	2	1	3
	0%	0%	0%	66.7%	33.3%	1.5%

Question # 49 – Class size (n=263)

Cauc-	9	16	47	60	65	197
asian	4.6%	8.1%	23.9%	30.5%	33.0%	74.9%
African	0	0	1	2	4	7
American	0%	0%	14.3%	28.6%	57.1%	2.7%
Hispanic	1	0	0	3	2	6
	16.7%	0%	0%	50.0%	33.3%	2.3%
Asian	0	0	2	2	0	4
	0%	0%	50. 0%	50.0%	0%	1.5%
American	0	4	10	14	18	46
Indian	0%	8.7 %	21.7%	30.4%	39.1%	17.5%
Other	1	0	0	0	2	3
	33.3%	0%	0%	0%	66.7%	1.1%

Question # 53 - Cost (n=262)

Cauc	5	14	39	49	90	19 <u>7</u>
asian	2.5%	7.1%	19.8%	24.9%	45.7%	75.2%
African	0	0	2	3	2	7
American	0%	0%	28.6%	42.9%	28.6%	2.7%
Hispanic	0	0	1	2	2	5
	0%	0%	20.0%	40.0%	40.0%	1.9%

(Table continues)

105



	<u>SD</u>	D	Ν	Α	SA	Total
Asian	0	1	1	2	0	4
	0%	25.0%	25.0%	50.0%	0%	1.5%
American	2	4	16	12	12	46
Indian	4.3%	8.7%	34.8%	26.1%	26.1%	17.6%
Other	1	0	0	0	2	3
	33.3%	0%	0%	0%	66.7%	1.1%
Question #	58 – Hospita	ality/friendlin	ess (n=26	3)		
Cauc	12	12	47	76	50	197
asian	6.1%	6.1%	23.9%	38.6%	25.4%	74.9%
African	0	0	1	1	5	7
American	0%	0%	14.3%	14.3%	71.4%	2.7%
Hispanic	1 16.7%	0	1 16.7%	2 33.3%	2 33.3%	6 2.3%
— ·				-		

Cauc	12	12	47	76	50	197
asian	6.1%	6.1%	23.9%	38.6%	25.4%	74.9%
African	0	0	1	1	5	7
American	0%	0%	14.3%	14.3%	71.4%	2.7%
Hispanic	1	0	1	2	2	6
	16.7%	0%	16.7%	33.3%	33.3%	2.3%
Asian	1	0	3	0	0	4
	25.0%	0%	75.0%	0%	0%	1.5%
American	2	1	10	15	18	46
Indian	4.3%	2.2%	21.7%	32.6%	39.1%	17.5%
Other	0	0	0	0	3	3
	0%	0%	0%	0%	100.0%	1.1%

A chi-square test for relationship between the ethnic background of the survey participants and the questions in the choice stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of two questions. These questions were: #40 - College cultural uniqueness (.00064) and #45 - Faculty expertise (.03439).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was also used to describe the relationships between characteristics in stage three - choice. There were five questions that had values that were large and positive indicating linear association. These questions were: #41 - Academic programs (.94346), #47 -Advice of friends (.99006), # 48 – Employment opportunities after graduation



(.81257), # 52 - Advice of family members (.72061) and # 57 Campus advertising (.80352).

Sub-research question 3f.

By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Table 22 below depicts the top five questions broken down by parental college experience in the choice stage. For clarification, yes indicates parental college experience, no indicates parents did not have college experience.

Table 22

Top five questions by parental college experience in the choice stage

Question	# 39 - Campi	is location (n=266)			
	SD	D	N	A	SA	Total
Yes	8	7	23	42	62	142
	5.6%	4.9%	16.2%	29.6%	43.7%	53.4%
No	3	7	16	29	69	124
	2.4%	5.6%	12.9%	23.4%	55.6%	46.6%
Question	# 41 – Acade	mic Progran	ns (n=267)			
Yes	3	9	37	55	38	142
	2.1%	6.3%	26.1%	38.7%	26.8%	53.2%
No	5	4	32	36	48	125
	4.0%	3.2%	25.6%	28.8%	38.4%	46.8%
Question	# 49 – Class	size (n=267	<i>'</i>)			
Yes	7	11	36	46	42	142
	4.9%	7.7%	25.4%	32.4%	29.6 %	53.2%
No	4	9	25	38	49	125



Question # 53 - Cost (n=266)

	SD	D	N	Α	SA	Total
Yes	6	11	31	38	55	141
	4.3%	7.8%	22.0%	27.0%	39.0%	53.0%
No	2	7	30	32	54	125
	1.6%	5.6%	24.0%	25.6 %	43.2%	47.0%

Question # 58 – Hospitality/friendliness (n=267)

Yes	8	5	37	51	41	142
	5.6%	3.5%	26.1%	35.9%	28.9%	53.2%
No	7	8	25	45	40	125
	5.6%	6.4%	20.0%	36.0%	32.0%	46.8%

A chi-square test for relationship between parental college experience of the survey participants and the questions in the choice stage showed no significant difference at the .05 level with the exception of one question # 43 – Campus visit (.04071).

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to describe the relationship between characteristics. Seven questions had values that were large and positive indicating an association between the characteristics. These questions were: # 36 – Academic quality (.73483), # 42 – College representatives (.86929), # 44 – Social activities (.83329), # 45 – Faculty expertise (.94390), # 47 – Advice of friends (.74790), # 52 – Advice of family members (.80298) and # 58 – Hospitality/friendliness (.64009).

Written comments

The survey included two subjective questions for the participants to add written responses. These comments are included in their entirety in Appendix G.



108

Summary

Chapter four presented the research results based on the survey "Factors Influencing Student College Choice" that was administered to the on-campus students at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. 270 students completed the survey representing 42% of the total on-campus student population. Chapter five will provide a summary of this project as well as conclusions and recommendations for further study.



Chapter Five

Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations

Introduction

The final chapter of this study on factors influencing student college choice consists of a summary of the overall study, a review of the research findings, and conclusions and recommendations for practical application of the research and further study.

Summary

The problem this study addresses is that little is known about the factors that influence students to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. The purpose of this study is to identify factors that influence students to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. From this information, the institution could utilize these factors for the development of a strategic student recruitment plan as well as for market positioning and promotion.

Chapter 1 of this study discussed the importance of examining customer behavior as part of the business model of strategic market planning as applied to student recruitment. This project is significant because, like industry, understanding customer behavior is key to marketing efficiency and effectiveness. It is important to know and utilize these influences in the development of marketing strategy. Emerging from the literature was a threestage model of college choice. The steps in this model are predisposition, search, and choice.



110

Three research questions were developed to guide the research in this study. They are:

- What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage one – predisposition.)
- What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage two – search.)
- 3. What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage three choice.)

In addition, eighteen sub-research questions were developed based on specific demographic variables.

Chapter 2 of this study reviewed the literature related to this topic. The existing literature on the subject of student recruitment is vast, however, there is very limited literature regarding student college choice in the tribal college category. Literature that was reviewed for this study included the historical background of college choice as well as the importance and practical use of understanding the college choice process. Chapter 2 focuses on a three-stage process of college choice: predisposition, search, and choice. Within each stage are factors that are typically important in the college choice process. Major authors in this area of interest include Hossler, Sevier, Kotler & Fox and Braxton.

Chapter 3 outlined the research methodology used in this study. Due to the limited existing literature in the subject area regarding college choice in the tribal college category, a descriptive survey research design was chosen. A



111

written survey was developed, tested, and administered in January 2000 to the on-campus students at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. Forty-two percent (42%) of the total on-campus student population participated in this study. Chapter three discusses the research design, the study institution, population and sampling procedures, instrumentation, data collection procedures and data analysis.

Chapter 4 explains the findings of the study and discusses the results of the data analysis as they relate to the three research questions and the eighteen sub-questions. The results were analyzed for their relationship to the constructs of the three-stage college choice process. These results were organized and presented by research question and sub-question.

Summary of findings

Research question 1

What influences a student to choose to attend a post-secondary institution? (Stage one – predisposition.)

Analysis of the survey data showed that students at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College agreed that they had always known they would attend college and that they possessed the academic capability of attending college, thus supporting the existing literature. Galotti & Kotzberg (1996) suggest that choosing to attend college may serve as an indirect measure of methods to achieve desired goals such as career opportunities, admission to graduate or professional school, intellectual development, and social status. Clinton (1989) also suggests that a person's perceptions and attitudes are reliable indicators of

ERIC Fulltext Provides by ERIC

their intent and behavior. The high rating of these factors suggest that students possess internal aspirations for further education not influenced by outside factors. These results support the theories of Hossler (1984), Paulsen (1990b) and Stage & Rushin (1993). These very individual internal preferences and attitudes are consistently influential factors in the college choice process thus supporting Jackson's (1986) theory that a strong desire to attend a post-secondary institution was the single most important factor correlated to college enrollment.

The data analysis also showed that students were influenced by people – family members, friends and people other than family members, as well as the knowledge of friends attending college in the predisposition stage. These results support the earlier theories of Hossler (1984), Stage & Rushin (1993), Weiler (1994), Murphy (1991), and Schwartz (1995) that showed encouragement by individuals was influential in a student's predisposition to attend college. In particular, this study supported Hossler's (1984) and Weiler's (1994) theories that parents possess the greatest influence in a student's decision to attend college.

Comments received in the open-ended questions in the survey support the selection of these factors. A sample of these responses adding dimension to these results include "I did this for me," "My desire to go to college...were deciding factors for me," "A friend encouraged me to attend" and "Some of my relatives strongly suggested that I attend this college." (A complete transcription of the survey comments is located in Appendix G of this paper.)

ERIC Fullext Provided by ERIC



Sub-research question 1a

By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Survey results showed again that most students have always known that they would attend college and that they felt they were capable of college level work. The results also showed, to a lesser extent, that family members and people other than family members influence a student's decision to attend college. In addition, the knowledge of available financial aid had some influence on a student's predisposition to attending college. Hossler & Gallagher (1987) stated that early information on financial aid, as well as institutional costs, are important stimulators in predisposition to college attendance. The results of this study support this theory.

Sub-research question 1b

By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Results of the research illustrate that, again, students continue to acknowledge that they have always known they would attend college and that they were academically capable of completing college-level work. Students were also influenced by family members and people other than family members in their predisposition to college choice. Other factors that were significant in this area include the influence of high school curriculum and the influence of friends. Both Heath (1993) and Hossler's (1984) theories suggesting that students in a college



114

preparatory curriculum are more likely to enroll in college are supported by this study finding.

Sub-research question 1c

By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Student survey response continued the theme of awareness of academic capability as well as the knowledge that they would attend college. Students were also influenced by people other than family members and the fact that most of their friends were attending college. The peer effect that affects a student's predisposition to attend college was noted in the literature by Kohn, Manski & Mundel (1976) and Manski & Wise (1983). Additionally, Jackson's (1988) study determined that having college-bound friends was very important in the college search stage.

Sub-research question 1d

By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Once again, students were aware of their aspirations of attending college and their belief that they are academically capable of college-level work. Family members also influenced students.



115

Sub-research question 1e

By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

In the six ethnic background categories, students agreed that they always knew they would attend college and that they knew they were academically capable of completing college-level work. Again, students of all ethnic backgrounds were influenced by family members and other individuals close to them.

Sub-research question 1f

By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the predisposition stage?

Again, the research results showed that students always knew that they would attend college, that they were academically capable of completing collegelevel work, and that family members were influential in their predisposition to college choice. Additional factors that influenced students in this area were their involvement in high school activities. Boris and Rushin (1993) found in a study of prospective college students that high school activities were a positive predictor of a student's predisposition to attend college. Hossler & Gallagher (1987) and Manski & Wise (1983) found similar results in their studies. All are supported by the results of this study.

ERIC Pruit East Provided by ERIC 116

Research question 2

What information influences a student to consider Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College? (Stage two – search.)

Analysis of the research data showed that two factors, campus location and cost, were highly ranked by the students in the study regarding their college search. Other significant factors that students considered during their college search stage included campus atmosphere, hospitality/friendliness, academic programs and class size. The identification and emergence of these preferences by the students are a key part of the college search stage (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

The literature consistently revealed that the location of a campus can be a major factor in a potential student's decision to apply and enroll (Sevier, 1996). In addition, Absher & Crawford (1996) and Sevier (1994) stated that students may be looking for a college for convenience and accessibility as well as because they simply liked the location (Choy, Ottinger & Carroll, 1998). All of these theories are supported by the results of this study.

Cost of a college was a major influential factor to students in this study. Again, these results support the literature of Choy, Ottinger & Carroll (1998), Sevier (1994), and Weiler (1996) who stated that cost is a major influence for students. Cost helps define the group of institutions students consider as options for their future education.

King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) stated that the campus atmosphere was an important factor in the search and choice process. Similar findings were

117



noted in the research of Absher & Crawford (1996) and Galotti & Mark (1994). All theories are supported by the results of this study.

Students are interested in the social environment of a campus and want to feel accepted and a part of a school. Students want to be proud of their school and want to be able to access other students and faculty to get their questions answered (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Hube, 1997; Sevier & Kappler, 1996; Sevier, 1998). In Henley & Roger's (1997) study, the friendliness of a college campus was an impressive factor for potential students. The importance of hospitality and friendliness was strongly supported in this study, as noted by the above literature.

Students in this study rated academic programs as a key factor in their college search stage. These results support the work of Sevier (1994) and Erdmann (1983). Erdmann found that the availability of specific academic programs was the single most important factor in the college selection process. Litten (1982) had similar findings stating that academic programs were a significant influence to prospective students.

In earlier studies (Straus & Van De Water, 1997), students ranked class size as one of the top ten influential factors in a student's search and choice process. While students in this study prefer the small class size and individual attention supporting this theory, in general, students will tend to consider and select a college they are comfortable with for their future education.

Again, many comments received in the open-ended section of the survey support these key factors influencing students in the search stage. A selection of

118



these comments follows: "The place is like no other. There is an aura around the entire area," "I felt welcomed when I came to ask for information. Everyone was friendly to me – holding doors, saying 'Good Morning', smiling. Then I learned the class sizes were small," and "Location, location, location." (A full transcription of the survey comments is located in Appendix G.)

Sub-research question 2a

By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

The research results showed that students in the college search stage were influenced by campus location, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, class size, and cost. Other factors that were significant by gender in the search stage included college reputation, campus atmosphere, college cultural uniqueness, campus safety, educational facilities, and college advertising.

While the influential factors of campus location, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, class size, cost, and campus atmosphere in this study have been shown to support the literature earlier in this chapter, the additional factors of college reputation, cultural uniqueness, campus safety, educational facilities and college advertising are also supported by the existing literature. College reputation has a tremendous effect on college choice. Students value the reputation of a college and it rates highly as an influential factor by students in the college search and choice process (Adebayo, 1995; Maguire, 1981; McDonough & Antonio, 1996; Murphy, 1981; Sevier, 1992; Sevier, 1996; Straus & Van De Water, 1997). College cultural uniqueness continue to be a vital

119



influence for some students. Many students are influenced by a college's commitment to cultural values and this reputation alone may be a significant factor in decision making (Hill, 1995; McDonough & Antonio, 1996; St. Cyr, 1994; Stock & Schmid, 1980).

Most recently, campus safety has emerged as an influential factor in a student's college choice process (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Sevier & Kappler, 1996; Sevier, 1998). The results of this study also support these earlier findings. Educational facilities such as classrooms, laboratories, and libraries are important in a student's selection of a college (Absher & Crawford, 1996; Straus & Van De Water, 1997; Sevier, 1998). They were also important in this study.

Finally, college advertising influences students in the college choice process. Many mediums have been shown to be effective at building college awareness, image, and visibility (Schultz, 1997; Hossler, Bean & Associates, 1990). Again, the results of this study support these theories.

Sub-research question 2b

By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Students participating in the study again rated campus atmosphere, campus location, academic programs, hospitality, class size, and cost as influential factors during their college search stage. Additional factors that were noted as important by the students in this stage include advice of family members and advice of friends.

Full Text Provided by ERIC

120

Sub-research question 2c

By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

The research results illustrate that students in the search stage are influenced by the following factors: campus location, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, class size, and cost.

Sub-research question 2d

By number of college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Respondents indicated that they were influenced by campus atmosphere, campus location, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, class size, and cost.

Sub-research question 2e

By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Analysis of the research data shows that students in the college search stage continue to be influenced by campus location, hospitality/friendliness, campus size, class size, and cost. Participants were also influenced to a lesser extent by college cultural uniqueness and college web sites in this stage. College web sites are important sources of information for prospective students (Sevier 1997b). This study supports Sevier's theory regarding the influence of the Internet and college web sites.



121

Sub-research question 2f

By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the search stage?

Research results show that students in the college search stage are influenced by campus location, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, class size, and cost. They are also influenced, to some extent, by employment opportunities after graduation and advice of friends. Students are often attracted to post-secondary education because of the career opportunities it may provide (Adebayo, 1995; Gray, 1996; National Assessment of Vocational Education, 1994; Sevier, 1998). In addition, Paulsen (1990a) and Perry (1995) theorize that students consider job placement as part of their search and choice process. This study found similar results to the existing research.

Research question 3

What are the major influences that students consider when choosing to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College?

Analysis of the research data shows that campus location had the greatest level of agreement by the research respondents as influential during their college choice process. Additional factors that were important, once again, included the factors of academic programs, class size, cost, and hospitality/friendliness. Galotti and Mark (1994) conclude that desirable college characteristics are most often included as part of a student's choice set. These characteristics may be ranked by students and the successful matching of factors this choice set determines the resulting college selection.





The comments received in the open-ended questions in the survey instrument support these the emergence of these influential factors. A sample of these comments are: "I attended because of the location and programs offered," "Fond du Lac is very convenient and offers classes of interest. It has a friendly atmosphere," and "Overall, the friendliness of the staff here and the low cost of school and financial aid I receive made me choose Fond du Lac." (Appendix G contains a complete transcription of the survey comments.)

Sub-research question 3a

By gender, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Data derived from the research analysis demonstrate that campus location, academic programs, class size, cost, and hospitality/friendliness were the main influential factors as students selected to enroll at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. There are several additional factors that were important to students, by gender, in the choice stage. They include campus atmosphere, academic quality, campus safety, college reputation, college cultural uniqueness, campus visit, and availability of financial aid.

Earlier studies by Henley & Rogers (1997), Hossler, Bean & Associates (1990), King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986), Rubins (1985), Ralph & Vancko (1997) and Sevier (1992) found that a campus visit was a major factor in the college decision-making process. While not one of the top factors influencing students in this study, the campus visit was rated as an important influence, thus supporting the existing literature. The positive campus visit would seem to be an important



123

factor related to hospitality/friendliness in the college choice process. In addition, the availability of financial aid was an important factor influencing students in the choice stage of this study. This finding supports the research of Lauer (1998) and Spiegler (1998).

Sub-research question 3b

By age, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Analysis of the survey data showed that respondents were influenced by campus location, class size, cost, campus size, and hospitality/friendliness. Students were also influenced by academic programs, social activities, and college web site in the college choice process. Dortch (1997), Weiler (1996) and Litten (1982) all found that social activities are useful in influencing students in the college choice process. This factor was also important to students participating in this study.

Sub-research question 3c

By distance from hometown, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Campus location, academic programs, class size, cost, and hospitality/friendliness were again rated the most influential factors by data analyzed in the research.

124



Sub-research question 3d

By college credits completed, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Analysis of the research data shows that campus location, academic programs, class size, cost, and hospitality/friendliness are the main influential factors to students in the choice stage. Additional influential factors emerged in the data analysis. They include: academic quality, campus safety, college cultural awareness, college representatives, campus visit, faculty expertise, advice from family members and teachers or guidance counselors, and collegepublished materials.

Again, the major factors influencing students continue to remain the same. However, several additional factors of lesser influence were also noted in this study. Those not discussed earlier in this chapter include college representatives, faculty expertise, and college-published materials. Visits by college representatives were rated as an extremely effective influence for prospective students (Maguire, 1981; Rowe 1980). College representatives were also an influential factor in the choice stage in this study. King, Kobayashi & Bigler (1986) suggest that faculty members make strong impressions on prospective students and this is a positive factor in a student's college selection. Faculty expertise was also an important factor to students participating in this study. Finally, college-published materials emerged as an influential factor as a result of this study. This finding supports the theories of Maguire (1981), Sevier (1997b). Perry (1995) and Galotti & Mark (1994).

125



Sub-research question 3e

By ethnic background, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Data analysis shows that the major influential factors by respondent ethnic background in the college choice stage are campus location, academic programs, class size, cost, and hospitality/friendliness. Other influential factors that were important to survey participants in this area were college cultural uniqueness and faculty expertise.

Sub-research question 3f

By parental college experience, what are the major factors influencing students in the choice stage?

Analysis of the research data showed that there were five major influential factors to the respondents in the choice stage. These factors, once again, are campus location, academic programs, class size, cost, and hospitality/friendliness. A college campus visit was also rated as influential to students in the choice stage.

Conclusions

A number of important conclusions regarding the college choice process at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College can be derived from the research findings of this study. These conclusions will be discussed as they relate to the three main study constructs.

ERIC FullText Provided by ERIC 126

Stage one - predisposition

Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College students who participated in this study appear to have a high level of internal motivation and aspiration to attend college. The College appears to attract a significant number of students who believe they are destined to attend college. In turn, these students also have a strong belief in their ability to complete college level work. Students in this college choice stage are also influenced by people such as family members and other individuals the students know and respect. It was interesting to note the consistency of answers in this section. Each demographic grouping continually agreed with the statements dealing with intrinsic knowledge of their college attendance and academic ability as well as the influence of people who are close to them.

Stage two - search

Consistently, the research data shows that students at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College deemed several factors as influential in their college search process. These factors included campus location, academic programs, hospitality/friendliness, class size, cost, campus size, and campus atmosphere. The agreement of these factors across all demographic variables was remarkable. It is interesting to note that these basic college characteristics were found as the most influential by students when compared with the more visible types of influences such as college advertising, campus representatives or even financial aid availability.



127

<u>Stage three – choice</u>

Again, the data analysis of the research shows that students choose to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College because of several factors. These factors are identical to the characteristics identified in the search stage and were consistently highly rated by the survey participants. These factors include: campus location, academic programs, class size, cost,

hospitality/friendliness, and campus size. These findings support the importance of these characteristics throughout the college choice process. Once again, it is important to note the consistency of these responses and their similarity to those in the search stage.

Practical application of this research

It is clear that there are several factors that are important to students who consider and ultimately choose to enroll at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. Staff members at the College may wish to consider the following practical applications of this research.

As part of a strategic marketing and recruitment plan, this data should be included in the customer analysis section. From this information, positioning and specific marketing tactics can be developed to focus on these apparently important aspects in the college selection process. For example, marketing efforts may target and promote the convenience and attractiveness of the campus location. These marketing action plans might also support the conducive class size and the hospitality and friendliness of the current students, faculty, and staff. Emphasis might also be placed on the availability of and rigor



128

of academic programs. Finally, the cost of attendance should be promoted to prospective students.

Staff members at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College may wish to take the information included in this study and enhance and/or expand on it. As an example, the existing survey could be used on a regular basis to follow trends regarding the factors students consider when selecting a college to attend. This study could be used as a baseline for further research and comparison.

The survey instrument used in this research performed well. It was easy to understand and to complete by the participants. It can quickly be adapted by considering the appropriate demographic characteristics and modifying this section of the survey as appropriate.

Finally, this study can be used to add to the existing literature for use by other tribal colleges. These colleges may be interested in learning more about their students and the factors influencing their enrollment at their colleges to create more effective and efficient market practices.

Recommendations for further study

The goal of this research study was to identify factors that influence student college choice at a northeastern Minnesota tribal college. The author has several recommendations for more research in this area.

First, additional information may be gained from further analysis of the research data. For example, more detailed breakdowns of the responses by specific demographic characteristics could result in very targeted marketing practices much like those used in private industry today.







Ø

As marketing technology becomes more advanced, colleges may want to consider using data mining techniques to assist with the discovery of specific and unique student characteristics. Data mining uses technology to make advantageous use of large stores of data. Data mining uses many different methods to process and interpret this data to make it meaningful in market planning (Cios, Pedrycz & Swiniarski, 1998; Liu, 1998). Another useful marketing technique that may be helpful to colleges is integrating mapping software into the marketing plan. This type of software can analyze markets through demographic analysis, site selection, competitive analysis, and other factors providing a valuable tool to college marketing staff members (Business Map Pro User's Guide, 1996).

It may be useful for colleges to administer and analyze customer response on a regular basis. Annual or even semi-annual gathering of student information on college choice could provide useful data for trend analysis. Identification of trends can assist with the most appropriate and timely methods for reaching the target student audiences. This practice would result in more efficient and effective student recruitment.

The addition of other market research techniques such as focus groups of students may support and enhance the data results. For example, several focus groups of new students may give additional meaning that supports and enhances the quantitative data.

Business and industry spend a great deal of time and effort trying to understand its customers. Colleges and universities need to do the same to

ERIC AFUIL IEXEL Provided by ERIC

increase the efficiency and effectiveness of their marketing practices.

Understanding these influential factors in the college choice process are key to achieving marketing success.



References

Aaker, D.A. (1988). <u>Strategic Market Management.</u> New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Absher, K. & Crawford, G. (1996). Marketing the community college starts with understanding students' perspectives. <u>Community College Review, 23 (4)</u>, 59-67.

Adebayo, B. (1995). Gender differences in vocational college choice process. <u>Canadian Vocational Journal, 30</u> (3), 27-28.

Bateman, M. & Spruill, D. (1996). Student decision-making: Insights from the college choice process. <u>College Student Journal, 30,</u> 182-186.

Berge, D. A. (1998). <u>Factors influencing the college enrollment choice of</u> <u>first-year students at a masters (comprehensive) college/university I.</u>

Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.

Borus, M.E. & Carpenter, S.A. (1984). Factors associated with college attendance of high school seniors. <u>Economics of Education Review, 3 (</u>3), 169-176.

Boyer, P. (1997). <u>Native American Colleges: Progress and Prospects.</u> San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc.

Braxton, J.M (1990). How students choose colleges. In J. Hossler & J. Bean, <u>The Strategic Management of College Enrollments (pp. 57-67)</u>. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

132



Brubacher, J.S. & Rudy, W. (1997). <u>Higher Education in Transition: A</u> <u>History of American Colleges and Universities.</u> New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.

Buford, D. (1987, October). <u>The role of parents in the college selection</u> <u>process.</u> Paper presented at the annual conference of the Southern Association for Institutional Research and the Society for College and University Planning, New Orleans, LA.

Business Map Pro User's Guide. (1996). Richardson, TX: Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc.

Choy, S.P., Ottinger, C., & Carroll, C.D. (1998). <u>Choosing a</u> <u>postsecondary institution.</u> (NCES Publication No. 98-080). Washington, D.C.: National Center for Educational Statistics.

Cios, K.J., Pedrycz, W & Swiniarski, R.W. (1998). <u>Data Mining Methods</u> for Knowledge Discovery. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Clinton, R.J. (1989). Factors that influence the college prospect's choice of schools: Methodology, analysis and marketing implications of a recent study. <u>Journal of Marketing for Higher Education, 2(</u>2), 31-45.

Dixon, P.N. & Martin, N.K. (1991). Measuring factors that influence college choice. <u>National Association of Student Personnel Administrators</u> <u>Journal, 29</u> (1), 31-36.

Dortch, S. (1997, September). Hey Guys, Hit the Books. <u>American</u> <u>Demographics</u>, 19, 4-12.

133



Erdmann, D.G. (1983). An examination of factors influencing student choice in the college selection process. <u>The Journal of College Admissions, 100,</u> 3-6.

Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. (1995-97). <u>A Union of</u> <u>Cultures.</u> [Brochure]. Cloquet, MN: Author.

Galotti, K.M. & Kozberg, S.F. (1996). Adolescents' experience of a lifeframing decision. Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 25 (1), 3-14.

Galotti, K.M. & Mark, M.C. (1994). How do high school students structure an important life decision? A short-term longitudinal study of the college decision-making process. <u>Research in Higher Education, 35</u> (5), 589-607.

Graves, L.M. (1989, March). College recruitment: Removing personal bias from selection decisions. <u>Personnel, 66</u> (3), 48-52.

Gray, K. (1996). The baccalaureate game: Is it right for all teens? <u>Phi</u> <u>Delta Kappan 77</u> (8). 528-534.

Graziano, A.M & Raulin, M.L. (1989). <u>Research Methods: A Process of</u> Inquiry. New York: Harper & Row.

Heath, W.C. (1993). Choosing the right pond: college choice and the quest for status. <u>Economics of Education Review, 12</u> (1), 81-88.

Henley, T.K. & Rogers, J.C. (1997). Profiling current student perceptions to better predict recruitment and retention. <u>Symposium for the Marketing of</u> <u>Higher Education</u> (pp. 88-96). Chicago: American Marketing Association.

Hill, M.J. (1995). Tribal Colleges: Their role in U.S. higher education.

New Directions for Community Colleges, 90 (2), 31-41.

134



Hossler, D. (1984). <u>Enrollment Management: An Integrated Approach.</u> New York: College Entrance Examination Board.

Hossler, D. (1998). [Review of the book <u>Choosing colleges: How social</u> <u>class and schools structure opportunity</u>]. Journal of Higher Education, 69 (5), 583-586.

Hossler, D. & Gallagher, K. (1987). Studying student college choice: A three-phase model and the implications for policymakers. <u>College and</u> <u>University, 62, (</u>3), 207-221.

Hossler, D., Bean, J.P., & Associates (1990). <u>The Strategic Management</u> <u>of College Enrollments.</u> San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc.

Hossler, D., Vesper, N., & Braxton, J. (1991, October). <u>What really</u> <u>counts: An investigation of the factors associated with the perceived importance</u> <u>of college attributes among high school students.</u> Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association for the Study of Higher Education, Boston, MA.

Hube, K. (1997, September). Today's five secrets of a successful college search. <u>Money's College Guide '98: Exclusive Survey, 26, (9), 116-122</u>.

Jackson, G.A. (1986). Workable, Comprehensive Models of College

<u>Choice.</u> Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching,: National

Institute of Education, Washington, D.C.: Spencer Foundation, Chicago.

Jackson, G.A. (1988). Did college choice change during the seventies? <u>Economics of Education Review, 7</u> (1), 15-27.

Johnson, R.G., Stewart, N.R., & Eberly, C.G. (1991). Counselor impact on college choice. The School Counselor, 39, 84-90.



135

Kaplan, R.M & Saccuzzo, D.P. (1989). <u>Psychological Testing: Principles</u>. Applications and Issues. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole

King, K.P., Kobayashi, N. & Bigler, L.G. (1986). Factors influencing students' perceptions of college recruitment activities. <u>College and University</u>, <u>61</u>, 99-113.

Kohn, M.G., Manski, C.F., & Mundel, D.S. (1976). An empirical investigation of factors which influence college-going behavior. <u>Annals of Economic and Social Measurement, 5</u> (4), 391-419.

Kotler, P. & Fox, K. F. A. (1985). <u>Strategic Marketing for Educational</u> <u>Institutions.</u> Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Lauer, L.D. (1998, January). Need visibility? Get integrated. <u>Case</u> <u>Currents, 24</u>, 12-19.

Litten, L. H. (1982). Different strokes in the applicant pool: Some refinements in a model of student college choice. <u>Journal of Higher Education</u>, <u>55(4)</u>, 383-402.

Liu, H. & Motoda, H. (1998). <u>Feature Selection for Knowledge Discovery</u> and Data Mining. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers

Maguire, J.C. (1981). Factors influencing matriculation: a two-year study. National ACAC Journal, 26 (1), 7-12.

Maguire, J. & Lay, R. (1981). Modeling the college choice process: Image and decision. <u>College and University, 56</u> (2), 123-139.

Manski, C.F. & Wise, D.A. (1983). <u>College Choice in America.</u> Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.



136

McDonough, P.M., & Antonio, A.L. (1996, April). <u>Ethnic and racial</u> <u>differences in selectivity of college choice.</u> Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York.

Murphy, P.E. (1981). Consumer buying roles in college choice: Parents' and students' perceptions. <u>College and University</u>, <u>56</u> (2), 140-150.

Merriam, S. (1988). <u>Case study research in education</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

National Assessment of Vocational Education: Interim Report to Congress. (1994). <u>Participation in postsecondary vocational education.</u> (Chapter 11, pp. 285-305.)

Ordovensky, J.F. (1994). Effects of institutional attributes on enrollment choice: Implications for postsecondary vocational education. Economics of Education Review, 14 (4), 335-350.

Paulsen, M.B. (1990). College choice: Understanding student enrollment behavior (Report No. EDO-HE-90-6). Washington, D.C.: Clearinghouse on Higher Education. (Eric Document Reproduction Service No. ED 333 854).

Paulsen, M.B. (1990). <u>College Choice: Understanding Student Enrollment</u> <u>Behavior.</u> ASHE-Eric Higher Education Report No. 6. Washington, D.C.: George Washington University, School of Education and Human Development.

Pavel, D.M. (1999). American Indians and Alaska natives in higher education: Promoting access and achievement. In K.G. Swisher & J.W. Tippeconnic III (Eds.). <u>Next Steps: Research and Practice to Advance Indian</u> Education (pp. 239-251). Charleston, WV: Appalachia Educational Laboratory.

ERI

137

Perry, C. (1995). Marketing a community college. <u>The Admissions</u> <u>Strategist, 23, 21-25</u>.

Ralph, B.C. & Vancko, C.S. (1997). Enrollment development and marketing practices at two year colleges. <u>Symposium for the Marketing of Higher</u> Education (225-230). Chicago: American Marketing Association.

Rickman, C.A. & Green, G. (1993). Market Segmentation differences using factors of the college selection process. <u>College and University, 68</u> (1), 32-37.

Rowe, F.A. (1980). Assessing student information needs for recruitment purposes. <u>National ACAC Journal, 25</u> (1), 3-8.

Rubins, D.L. (1985). Come up and see us sometime: A campus visit gives students a first-hand look. In V.C. Smith & S. Hunt (Eds.), <u>The New Guide to</u> <u>Student Recruitment Marketing.</u> (pp.55-56). Washington, D.C.: The Council for Advancement and Support of Education.

St. Cyr, D.L. (1994). Recruiting at Indian tribal colleges. <u>Journal of</u> Career Planning and Employment, 54(4). 37-40.

St. John, E.P. (1991). What really influences minority attendance: Sequential analysis of the high school and beyond sophomore cohort. <u>Research</u> <u>in Higher Education, 32</u> (2), 141-158.

Sanders, N.F. (1986). The college selection process: Research within the twelfth-grade marketplace. <u>The Journal of College Admissions</u>, <u>111</u>, 24-27.



138

Schultz, D.E. (1987). <u>How much to spend, who to talk to, what to say:</u> <u>Integrating your marketing communications programs.</u> Presentation conducted at the Symposium for the Marketing of Higher Education, Boston, MA.

Schwartz, J.B. (1985). Student financial aid and the college enrollment decision: The effects of public and private grants and interest subsidies.

Economics of Education Review, 4 (2), 129-144.

Sevier, R.A. (1986). <u>Freshmen at competitive liberal arts colleges: A</u> <u>survey of factors influencing institutional choice.</u> Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio.

Sevier, R.A. (1992). Developing an effective recruitment funnel. <u>The</u> <u>Admissions Strategist, 17,</u> 27-31.

Sevier, R.A. (1994). <u>Image is everything: Strategies for measuring</u>, <u>changing and maintaining your institution's image</u>. (White Paper No.1). Cedar Rapids, IA: Stamats Communications, Inc.

Sevier, R.A. (1996). Those important things: What every college president needs to know about marketing and student recruiting. <u>College and University</u>, <u>71</u> (4), 9-16.

Sevier, R.A. (1997a). <u>Acting strategically: A handful of breakthrough</u> <u>strategic moves that will strengthen your position in the marketplace.</u> (White Paper No. 4). Cedar Rapids, IA: Stamats Communications, Inc.

Sevier, R.A. (1997b). <u>Major trends affecting higher education</u>. Presentation conducted at the Symposium for the Marketing of Higher Education, Boston, MA.



Sevier, R.A. (1997c). <u>Shifts and nudges: Important lessons from old and</u> <u>new approaches to marketing colleges and universities.</u> (White Paper No. 5). Cedar Rapids, IA: Stamats Communications, Inc.

Sevier, R.A. (1998). <u>Charting a course: Finding direction amidst the swell</u> <u>of data on student recruiting.</u> (White Paper No. 6). Cedar Rapids, IA: Stamats Communications, Inc.

Sevier, R.A. & Kappler, S.D. (1996). <u>What students say: Results of two</u> <u>national surveys on how students choose a college.</u> (White Paper No. 3). Cedar Rapids, IA: Stamats Communications, Inc.

Sharp, S., Johnson, J., Kurotsuchi, K. ,& Waltman, J. (1996, April). <u>Insider</u> <u>information: Social influences on college attendance.</u> Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York.

Somers, P.A. & St. John, E.P. (1993). Assessing the impact of financial aid offers on enrollment decisions. <u>Journal of Student Financial Aid, 23</u> (3), 7-12.

Spiegler, M. (1998, September). Have money, will matriculate. <u>American</u> <u>Demographics, 20, 51-54</u>.

Stage, F.K. & Rushin, P.W. (1993). A combined model of student predisposition to college and persistence in college. <u>Journal of College Student</u> <u>Development, 34 (4)</u>, 276-282.

Stock, W.A & Schmid, R.F. (1980). Creating an institutional perspective for evaluating the admissions of minorities. <u>College and University 56</u> (1), 76-82.

140



Straus, G.K. & Van De Water, D.A. (1997). What thousands of students want in a college. <u>Symposium for the Marketing of Higher Education</u> (pp. 77-87). Chicago: American Marketing Association.

Swisher, K.G., & Tippeconnic, J.W.,III. (Eds.). (1999). <u>Next steps:</u> <u>Research and practice to advance Indian education.</u> Charleston, WV: Appalachia Educational Laboratory, Inc.

Weiler, W.C. (1994). Transition from consideration of a college to the decision to apply. <u>Research in Higher Education, 35 (6), 631-646</u>.

Weiler, W.C. (1996). Factors influencing the matriculation choices of high ability students. <u>Economics of Education Review, 15</u> (1), 23-36.

Weisberg, H.F., Krosnick, J.A. & Bowen, B.D. (1996). <u>An Introduction to</u> <u>Survey Research, Polling and Data Analysis (3rd ed.).</u> Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Zammuto, R.F. (1986). Managing decline in American higher education. In Smart, J.C. (Ed), <u>Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research (</u>Vol. 2, pp. 43-84). New York: Agathon Press, Inc.

Zemsky, R. & Oedel, P. (1983). <u>The Structure of College Choice.</u> New York: College Entrance Examination Board



154

Appendix A

Institutional Approval for Research Project





Office of the President

August 2, 1999

Becky Urbanski-Junkert 4184 Ridge Circle Hermantown, MN 55811

Dear Becky:

I am familiar with the Educational Policy and Administration doctoral program through the Leadership Academy at the University of Minnesota. Your field project dealing with why students choose the post-secondary institution that they ultimately attend would be very beneficial to Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College (FDLTCC) and other postsecondary schools as well.

We accept your request to partner with FDLTCC, and our admissions, assessment, and recruitment staff will work with you on this important project. Please contact Larry Anderson when you are prepared to begin your project. Also, please contact Judy Shultz, our Institutional Researcher and Assessment Chairperson as you begin survey development. Her direct telephone number is 879-0834.

Please provide the campus with the appropriate human subjects documentation request.

We look forward to working with you.

Sincerely,

Lester Jack Briggs, President Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College

pc: Larry Anderson, Vice President of Administration and Student Services Judy Shultz File

143



Appendix B

Factors Influencing Student College Choice Survey



144

Factors influencing student college choice at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College (Survey consent information)

Please read the following statements to students participating in the study.

You are invited to be in a research study regarding factors influencing student college choice at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. Students from the college have been asked to participate in this project. We ask that you listen carefully to the information regarding this study and ask any questions you may have before completing the survey.

The purpose of this study is to determine the factors influencing student college choice at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College.

If you agree to participate in this study, we ask that you complete the survey to be distributed. It will take approximately ten (10) minutes to complete. When you have completed the survey, please return it to the person who distributed the survey.

There are no risks involved in participating in this study. The benefits to participating in this study will assist with more efficient and effective student recruitment efforts.

The records of this study will be kept private. In any type of report we might publish, we will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be kept in a locked file, only researchers will have access to the records.

Your decision to participate or not participate in this research study will not affect your current or future relationships with Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without affecting this relationship.

The researcher conducting this study is Becky Urbanski. Please contact her at 786-2377 if you have any questions. You may also contact her advisor, Dr. Tom Peacock at 726-6898. If you have any questions or concerns regarding the study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, contact Research Subjects Advocate line, D528 Mayo, 420 Delaware Street S.E., Minneapolis, MN 55455; telephone 612-625-1650.

Thank you for your assistance with this project.

© 1999 Rebecca A. Urbanski



STUDENT SURVEY

Factors Influencing Student College Choice

The purpose of this research study is to gather information as part of a doctoral dissertation about factors influencing student college choice. Your cooperation in completing this survey is greatly appreciated. It will take approximately ten (10) minutes to complete this form. When you are finished with the survey, please return it to the person who asked you to complete it.

There are no risks involved in the completion of this survey. The results will be used to assist with creating more effective student recruitment programs. The information on this completed form will be kept confidential with the researcher only having access to the records. Your participation in the survey is voluntary.

The researcher conducting this study is Becky Urbanski. If you have any questions, you may contact her at 786-2377. You may also contact her faculty advisor for this study, Dr. Tom Peacock, 726-6898. Thank you for your assistance with this project.

Demographic Information		
Gender: Male Age: Female		
Distance from hometown to campus: 0-30 miles 31 or more miles		
Number of college credits completed: 0-24 25 or more		
Ethnic Background: Caucasian African American Hispanic		
Asian American Indian Other (please list)		
One or more of my parents have attended college: Yes No		

ERIC

For each of the following statements, please circle the number that best describes your point of view.

1=strongly disagree 2=disagree 3=neutral 4=agree 5=strongly	agree
1. I always knew I would attend college.	12345
2. I have always thought that I am academically capable of attending college.	12345
 Living close to a higher education institution influenced my decision to attend college. 	12345
 The curriculum in my high school influenced my decision to attend college. 	12345
 My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college. 	12345
Knowledge of available financial aid influenced my decision to attend college.	12345
7. Most of my friends are attending college.	12345
8. My family influenced my decision to attend college.	12345
People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college.	12345
10. My friends influenced my decision to attend college.	12345

I was influenced by the following factors as I <u>considered</u> colleges to attend:

1=strongly disagree 2=disagree 3=neutral 4=agr	ee 5=strongly agree
11. College reputation	12345
12. College academic quality	12345
13. Faculty expertise	12345
14. Campus atmosphere	1 2 3 4 5
15. Campus location	12345
16. College cultural uniqueness	12345
17. Academic programs	12345
18. Hospitality/friendliness	12345
19. Social activities	12345
20. Campus safety	12345
21. Campus size	12345
22. Educational facilities	1234
23. Employment opportunities after graduation	1234
24. Class size	1234
25. Cost	1234
25. 00st 147	



26. Availability of financial aid	12345
27. Advice of family members	12345
28. Advice of friends	12345
29. Advice of teachers or guidance counselors	12345
30. College published materials	12345
31. College Web site	12345
32. College advertising (i.e. television, newspaper, radio)	12345
33. College representatives	1 2 3 4 5
34. Campus visit	12345

The following factors influenced my <u>decision</u> to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College:

1=strongly disagree 2=disagree 3=ne	utral 4=agree 5=strongly agree
 35. Campus atmosphere 36. College academic quality 37. Campus safety 38. College reputation 39. Campus location 40. College cultural uniqueness 41. Academic programs 42. College representatives 43. Campus visit 44. Social activities 45. Faculty expertise 46. College Web site 47. Advice of friends 48. Employment opportunities after gradua 49. Class size 50. Educational facilities 51. Availability of financial aid 52. Advice of family members 53. Cost 	tion 1 2 3 4 5 1 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4
 54. Advice of teachers or guidance counse 55. College published materials 56. Campus size 57. College advertising (i.e. television, new 58. Hospitality/friendliness 	elors 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5

Were there any other factors that influenced your decision to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College?

Other comments:

PLEASE RETURN YOUR COMPLETED SURVEY TO THE PERSON WHO GAVE IT TO YOU. THANK YOU ! © 1999 Rebecca A. Urbanski 148



Appendix C

Letter and Validation Form



149

Becky Urbanski

4184 Ridge Circle, Hermantown, MN 55811

December 7, 1999

Gary McVey Minnesota Private College Council Galtier Plaza 175 Fifth St. E, Ste. 401 St. Paul, MN 55105-2903

Dear Gary:

Thank you very much for agreeing to review the survey for my doctoral research project as an expert in the area of student college choice. I appreciate your time to assist me with this project.

The topic of my doctoral dissertation deals with factors influencing student college choice at a northeastern Minnesota tribal college. The survey will be administered to students at Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College in early 2000.

I am enclosing a draft copy of my survey instrument. Please take some time to review the survey and complete the validation form. Please return the validation form and survey to me in the enclosed stamped, self-addressed envelope by December 17, 1999. If you have any questions, please contact me at 218-786-2377 or by e-mail: <u>burbanski@bhshealth.org</u>.

Thank you in advance for your assistance. I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Becky Urbanski

Encl.

150



	0
ER	LC VIDENT BY ERIC

CRM	
TION	
VEY V	
SUR	

Factors Influencing Student College Choice

Please circle \underline{Y} for yes, \underline{N} for no

1			
Part I – Predisposition	Question Appropriate to Subject?	Delete?	Reword to:
1. I always knew I would attend college.	N/X	N/X	
I have always known that I am academically capable of attending college.	N/X	NX	
Living close to a higher education institution influenced my decision to attend college.	N/A	N/X	
 The curriculum in my high school influenced my decision to attend college. 	N/A	N/X	
5. My involvement in high school activities influenced my decision to attend college.	N/A	N/X	
Knowledge of available financial aid influenced my decision to attend college.	N/X	N/X	1
7. Most of my friends are attending college.	N/X	N/X	
8. My family influenced my decision to attend college.	N/X	N/X	
People other than my family influenced my decision to attend college.	N/A	N/X	15
10. My friends influenced my decision to attend college.	N/X	N/X	1
			• • •

165 1

ر

Part II - Search	Factor Appropriate to Subject?	:t? Delete?	Reword to:
11. College reputation	N/X	N/Y	
	NX	N/X	
	NX	N/X	
14. Campus atmosphere	N/A	N/X	
15. Campus location	ΝΆ	Ν/λ	
16. College cultural uniqueness	N/λ	λ/N	
17. Academic programs	N/X	٨'N	
18. Hospitality/friendliness	N/X	Νλ	
	N/Y	٨/٧	
o.	N/X	Νλ	
	N/X	٨/٧	
22. Educational facilities	λγ	Ν/Υ	
23. Graduate success (job placement)	N/X	Νλ	
24. Class size	N/X	Νλ	
25. Cost	N/X	Νλ	
26. Financial aid availability	N/Y	Νλ	
27. Advice of family members	Y/N	N/X	
28. Advice of friends	N/X	N/X	
29. Advice of teachers	٨'٨	N/X	
30. College published materials	N/Y	X/N	
College Web site	N/A	٨١X	
32. College advertising (i.e. television, newspaper, radio)	NX	٨١	
33. College representatives	NIX	N/X	
Part III - Choice			
: : : : : : : : : : : : : : :			
34. College reputation		N/X	
35. College acadenne quality 36. Faculty expertise		N	•
37. Campus atmosphere			52
38. Campus location	N/X	N/Y	
	•		• • •
100		0	E 1
)	

ERIC Full Base Provided by ERIC

0
ERIC
Full Text Provided by ERIC

39. College cultural uniqueness		N/X	N/X	
40. Academic programs		N/X	N/X	
41. Hospitalitv/friendliness		N/Y	N/X	
42. Social activities		۸/۲	N/Y	
43. Campus safetv		N/۲	۸/۲	
44. Campus size		N/Y	۸/N	
45. Educational facilities		N/Y	N/Y	
46. Graduate success (job placement)		N/Y	N/Y	
47 Class size		۲/N	N/X	
48. Cost		N/Y	N/Y	
49. Financial aid availability		N/Y	N/Y	
50. Advice of family members		N/X	N/Y	
51. Advice of friends		N/X	N/X	
52 Advice of teachers		N/Y	N/X	
53 College nublished materials		N/Y	Y/N	
54 College Web site		N/۲	N/X	
55 College advertising (i e television, newspaper, radio)		N/Y	N/X	
56. College representatives		N/X	N/A	
**Is this question appropriate to the subject? Y/N De	Delete? Y/N	Reword to:		
Were there any other factors that influenced your decision to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College?	sion to attend F	ond du Lac Tribal and Co	mmunity College?	
REVIEWER NAME		DATE		
			•	

Thank you for your assistance! Please return in the enclosed self-addressed stamped envelope by Dec. 17, 1999.

Appendix D

Enrollment Management Experts



154

Enrollment Management Experts

Sally Daniels Director of Undergraduate Admission Augsburg College 2211 Riverside Avenue Minneapolis, MN 55454

Mary Docken College Counselor Mounds Park Academy 2051 E. Larpenteur Avenue St. Paul, MN 55109

Marla Friederichs Associate Vice President for Enrollment University of St. Thomas 2115 Summit Avenue, Mail 32F-1 St. Paul, MN 55105-1096

Gary McVey Associate Vice President for Marketing and Communication Minnesota Private Colleges Galtier Plaza 175 5th Street E. Ste. 401 St. Paul, MN 55101-2903

Ollie Meyer Associate Director of Admissions The College of St. Scholastica 1200 Kenwood Avenue Duluth, MN 55811

Gary Neumann Executive Director of Enrollment Management Michigan Technological University 1400 Townsend Drive Houghton, MI 49931

Clarence Sharpe Assistant Director, Transfer Admissions The College of St. Scholastica 1200 Kenwood Avenue Duluth, MN 55811



155

Tim Utter Director of Admission Concordia University of St. Paul 275 N. Syndicate St. Paul, MN 55104



156

Appendix E

Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College Survey Review Committee



157

Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College Survey Review Committee

Larry Anderson Vice President of Administration and Student Services

Lester Jack Briggs President

Wade Gordon Affirmative Action Officer

Judy Shultz Institutional Researcher

Tom Urbanski Director of Public Information and Admissions



Appendix F

Institutional Review Board Human Subjects Committee Approval



University of Minnesota

Twin Cities Campus

Research Subjects' Protection Programs Institutional Review Board: Human Subjects Committee (IRB) Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC)

December 28, 1999

Rebecca A. Urbanski 4184 Ridge Circle Hermantown MN 55811 Box 820 D528 Mayo Memorial Building 420 Delaware Street S.E. Minneapolis. MN 55455-0392 612-626-5654 Fax: 612-626-6061 intb@umn.edu iacuc@umn.edu http://www.research.umn.edu/subjects.htm

RE: "Factors influencing student college choice at a northeastern Minnesota tribal college."

Human Subjects Code Number: 9912E28401

Dear Ms. Urbanski:

The IRB: Human Subjects Committee determined that the referenced study is exempt from review under federal guidelines 45 CFR Part 46.101(b) category #2 SURVEYS/INTERVIEWS; STANDARDIZED EDUCATIONAL TESTS; OBSERVATION OF PUBLIC BEHAVIOR.

The code number above is assigned to your research. That number and the title of your study must be used in all communication with the IRB office.

Upon receipt of this letter, you may begin your research. If you have questions, please call the IRB office at (612) 626-5654.

The IRB wishes you success with this research.

Sincerely, Carol Siegel

Assistant Director

CS/to

CC: Thomas Peacock





Appendix G

Survey Comments



Were there any other factors that influenced your decision to attend Fond du Lac Tribal and Community College?

Mostly because of the classes available, the sizes of each class. Lower costs were a big factor and close to home.

It's a unique college with its Native American courses. The class sizes are small which makes one on one with the instructor possible.

The place is like no other. There is an aura around the entire area.

My mother went here and she loved it.

Talking with Carol Bonde about the possibility of going to college to better myself. This school had what I wanted to go to school for and was close to my home.

I felt welcomed when I came to ask for information. Everyone was friendly to me – holding doors, saying "Good Morning, " smiling. I felt great. Then I learned the class sizes were small.

Some of my relatives strongly suggested that I attend this college.

I like the teacher's commitment to the students. The teachers really make the difference and so does Jack Briggs. Not often does the school president address you by name.

It was close to home and the credits transfer easily to a university.

Yes, the college has a great multicultural atmosphere.

When I came to inquire about attending, the people who helped me knew exactly what needed to be done to get me in and they were so friendly.

Work study opportunities.

I live only about five minutes from the college.

Awesome law enforcement program.

The wemon niij!

Only college around with law enforcement in the area.

To be close to my children.



Transferable credits to four-year college.

Some of my friends come here.

The only factors were the size of the classes and the closeness of the campus.

Small classes – close to home – both were important to me.

I really enjoy the small class sizes.

Linda Shelton, Don Jarvinen and the promise of support.

The availability of tutors, especially for math and science.

The school is one of the few schools in the state that has the law enforcement program.

Law enforcement program.

It was close and a smaller campus.

I was sent the info I needed and wanted.

One main reason is for my son who recently started school so I want to show him school is better for a people. Getting as much education as you can.

I was a good opportunity for me.

Location, location, location.

It is the only college close enough to where I live.

Close to family.

Just that it was close to home and cheap.

Nothing better to do with time/life.

I would be able to finish school sooner.

I have a family member that basically dragged me here ©

In my hometown, low cost, many friends attending. I liked the thought of attending <u>small</u> school at first.



The dorms because they're close to the school and they're nice to live in.

Yes, Bruce Carlson. Good guy.

Also was influenced by past alumni.

Very close to home and my job is in Cloquet.

In traveling distance to home.

I was unsure of my major, so I decided to go to FDLTCC because I could start on my generals while I made up my mind.

One instructor, Ron Gittings. Great instructor.

Wanted my degree in law enforcement but couldn't afford to go to Hibbing.

To get law enforcement degree.

Required for post.

Only law enforcement program in the area.

Has the law enforcement program – closest to Duluth.

Closer than Hibbing and St. Paul.

The only reason I came here was the law enforcement program.

It was the only college in the Twin Ports area that had law enforcement.

I have a B.A. and am attending this school for law enforcement. It is close.

Law enforcement. Academic community.

I needed some classes to complete my four-year degree at UMD in Criminal Justice.

Law enforcement.

Instructors that work in the field they're teaching.

Offering the classes that were needed.



It was the only place close enough to receive an associate in law enforcement without moving or traveling (commuting) far.

Was required to for post. Friendliness is extremely important upon first impressions.

Only school in the area that offered the remaining law enforcement requirements necessary after attending UMD.

The specific law enforcement program.

I attended because of the location and programs offered.

Job I want requires an AA and Fond du Lac had the course I needed.

The diverse atmosphere and cultural awareness.

I chose this college because I used to live three miles away and it is very affordable.

I did this for me – being able to go back to school was a big plus.

Location.

Close to home, small class size, know people.

Close by.

They offer great opportunities for students like myself and are very accepting of us.

My brother.

Good place to start back for in transferring situation. Like to see other cultures.

A friend I met after high school. Friend encouraged me to attend.

Fond du Lac is very convenient and offers classes of interest. It has a friendly atmosphere.

Its location.

Closeness to my children and business contacts – available opportunities – available housing. Need housing for non-traditional students.



Yes. Because if is a "tribal" and community college!!

Close by my home so it was convenient.

It was the closest to home for the program I was interested in.

I live only three blocks from Fond du Lac.

By one of the advisors.

The type of classes offered.

Financial.

Family and friends.

Brian Jon Maciewski.

Closest to my high school.

I live in Cloquet and the distance to travel was a determining factor.

Business cohort program made a lot of difference in my decision.

The small campus, the location, childcare facility and the staff had a great impact on me.

Personal injury. I could not work at the time school started, so I decided to go to school. It is something that I always wanted to do. So here I am.

I felt FDLTCC would be a great place to start my four-year college education.

The school's willingness to accept me along with some factors that presented a problem (at the time) with me getting back into school.

Both my mother and my sister attend or have attended and said it is a great school.

The reputation of their human service program.

Only law enforcement courses in the area.

My desire to go to college and the location and size of FDL was the deciding factors for me.



They had the program I wanted and no other school around here does.

My kids mostly. I lived on the reservation with their dad and I needed a good job to take care of my kids.

Being a non-traditional student, FDLCC fits my life and is the place I choose to get my higher ed.

My brother attended FDLTCC.

Housing facilities are a plus. I like the personal attention received when signing up for classes.

FDL is the only college within 50 miles of where I live.

Work comp very willing to pay for programs here compared to UMD and Scholastica.

To be honest, I seen [sic] the ad and called the school. Enrolled the day of classes.

Only college in area that offered law enforcement.

The pressure to continue going to school. Overall the friendliness of the staff here and the low cost of school and financial aid I receive made me choose Fond du Lac.

FDLTCC has the program that I wanted.

The cohort program.

The human services program with chemical dependency extension and beautiful building.

Advice from a teacher here that I am close to.

All my friends that go here told me about it and what made me make my decision was the dorms.

That the college had a range of ages. It helped widen my social circle. You should act very mature, you are not based in your peer group. You must show you are here to learn.

Was recommended by JTPA.





CD program available here.

I wanted to live outside Duluth. It's cheaper to live in Cloquet (rent-wise). I have a nice job at Black Bear as well.

I've attended here before. The fact that credits transfer and most of the staff is friendly.

I live with somebody that has been attending Fond du Lac and he was the biggest influence in my area.

The distance and traveling time from my home and work.

Working with DVR/DVS and disability counselor – availability of notetaker, testing in CAA.

Mostly location and cost.



Other comments:

I also had two older sisters who graduated from here and found themselves wonderful jobs.

I think the campus is cool.

The reason most of my friends don't attend college is they're (still) in high school.

I wish it were a four-year college.

I don't enjoy going here. I feel that most instructors are too dry and the classes are not interesting.

I've attended two colleges so far and this has been the best investment for myself.

This is an excellent school.

You <u>need</u> to accept Visa/MasterCard. Some students do not qualify for financial aid/scholarships, need to use credit card. I almost couldn't attend because you do not accept them.

I enjoy attending college. I have learned a lot about me and what I am capable of.

I have already ran into quite a few problems with this college already! This is only my second semester. I plan on transferring to a better facility.

This is my first semester here. I've heard a lot of positive comments and I have found them to be true. My experience here so far has been great. <u>All staff</u> members have been <u>very</u> helpful and friendly.

Know your role!

Financial aid director needs help.

I enjoy this school. It has given me a good base to start my college career with.

Faculty and staff seem to have too much power. They seem to be able to bump students from rooms for what they deem more important and cut in front of long lines and waited on first. There is also too little staff (example: financial aid) for student related services.

I wish this was a four-year college.



Personally, it could be presented more seriously by some instructors. Skeptical at first about going here, however, have been very satisfied overall with quality of education.

I'm not getting any younger!

The financial aid advisor is not very helpful in every experience I've had with him. He treats people like they're stupid and should already know what they are doing.

There are a few – mainly one woman – in this college that is very unfriendly and rude. I wouldn't have ever attended had she been the person I first talked to – friendliness is very important.

I was advised by a former counselor to attend the human services program here.



170



U.S. Department of Education

Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) National Library of Education (NLE) Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)



REPRODUCTION RELEASE

(Specific Document)

I. DOCUMENT IDENTIFICATION:

Title:	
FACTORS INFLUENCING STUDENT COLLEGE CHOICE AT A NORTH	HEASTERN MINNESOTA TRIBAL
Author(s): REBECCA A. URBANSKI, Ed.D.	COLLEGE
Corporate Source:	Publication Date:
	NOVEMBER 2000

II. REPRODUCTION RELEASE:

Ŀ

In order to disseminate as widely as possible timely and significant materials of interest to the educational community, documents announced in the monthly abstract journal of the ERIC system, *Resources in Education* (RIE), are usually made available to users in microfiche, reproduced paper copy, and electronic media, and sold through the ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS). Credit is given to the source of each document, and, if reproduction release is granted, one of the following notices is affixed to the document.

If permission is granted to reproduce and disseminate the identified document, please CHECK ONE of the following three options and sign at the bottom of the page.

The sample sticker shown below will be affixed to all Level 1 documents	The sample sticker shown below will be affixed to all Level 2A documents	The sample sticker shown below will be affixed to all Level 2B documents
PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY	PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL IN MICROFICHE, AND IN ELECTRONIC MEDIA FOR ERIC COLLECTION SUBSCRIBERS ONLY, HAS BEEN GRANTED BY	PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL IN MICROFICHE ONLY HAS BEEN GRANTED BY
San	Samt	cant
TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)	TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)	TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)
1	2A	2B
Level 1	Level 2A	Level 2B
t _	t t	t
Check here for Level 1 release, permitting reproduction and dissemination in microfiche or other ERIC archival media (e.g., electronic) and paper copy.	Check here for Level 2A release, permitting reproduction and dissemination in microfiche and in electronic media for ERIC archival collection subscribers only	Check here for Level 2B release, permitting reproduction and dissemination in microfiche only
if permissi	Documents will be processed as indicated provided reproduction qualit on to reproduce is granted, but no box is checked, documents will be pr	y permits. ocessed at Level 1.
as indicated above. Reproductio contractors requires permission fro	Resources Information Center (ERIC) nonexclusive perm in from the ERIC microfiche or electronic media by per om the copyright holder. Exception is made for non-profit lucators in response to discrete inquiries.	ersons other than ERIC employees and its system
Sign Signature: here,→ Bubula A. Uh	Printed Name Rebecci	a/Position/Title:
please HIBY Ridge Circle	Hermantown, MN E- Hermantown, MN	8-786-2377 278-786-2373 Ski @bhshealth. Date: 3/20/02-
AT Provide thy EBC		Org